

SHIFT

Enhancing the Health of Ontarians: A Call to Action for Preconception Health Promotion & Care



Citation

Ontario Public Health Association. (2014). Shift - Enhancing the health of Ontarians: A call to action for preconception health promotion and care. Toronto, ON.

//ONTARIO Public Health Association//

The Ontario Public Health Association (OPHA) is a member-based, not-for-profit association that has established a strong record of success as the voice of Public Health in Ontario. The Association provides leadership on issues affecting the public's health and strengthens the impact of those who are active in public and community health throughout Ontario. OPHA has nine active workgroups that focus on particular public health issues. The Reproductive Health Workgroup is one whose membership is interested in promoting reproductive health within Ontario, including promotion and support of preconception health. The workgroup's vision includes having systems and policies in place to achieve optimal reproductive health for all, with a mission to advocate for policies and supportive environments that improve reproductive health outcomes.

//Acknowledgements//

This paper was researched and written with the generous contribution of the OPHA Reproductive Health Workgroup's Preconception Health Task Group members:

- Joanne Enders BScN, RN, Public Health Nurse, Region of Waterloo Public Health
- Catriona Mill MHSc, BScN, RN, CCHN(c), Health Promotion Specialist, Toronto Public Health
- Cynthia Montanaro BScN, RN, Public Health Nurse, Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health
- Jennifer Matos BScN, RN, Public Health Nurse, Durham Region Health Department
- Michelle Suarly BScN, BAH, RN, MPH (candidate), Public Health Nurse, KFL&A Public Health
- Caroline Shaw BScN, RN, Public Health Nurse, Halton Region Health Department
- Mary Ann Gatbonton BScN, RN, CCHN(c), Public Health Nurse, Toronto Public Health
- Darlene Johnson BScN, BEd, RN, Public Health Nurse, KFL&A Public Health
- Rosemary Scofich BScN, RN, Public Health Nurse, Thunder Bay District Health Unit
- Susan Buott BScN, RN, Public Health Nurse, Peterborough County-City Health Unit

We would also like to extend our thanks to current and past members of the OPHA Reproductive Health Workgroup who provided comment.

The Preconception Health Task Group also wishes to extend special thanks to a number of expert reviewers who provided feedback and consultation on specific sections, including:

- Amira Ali MBBS, MSc, Sr. Epidemiologist, Ottawa Public Health & Association of Public Health Epidemiologist of Ontario (APHEO)
- Natalie Greenidge MHSc, Epidemiologist, Knowledge Services, Public Health Ontario
- Kieran Michael Moore MD, CCFP(EM), FCFP, MPH, DTM&H, FRCPC, Associate Medical Officer of Health, KFL&A Public Health, and Associate Professor, Queen's University
- Paula D. Morrison RN, BScN, MSPsy, PNC(C), Public Health Coordinator, BORN Ontario
- Patricia Mousmanis MD, CCFP, FCFP, Chair, Child and Adolescent Committee, College of Family Physicians of Canada, and Coordinator, Healthy Child Development Program, Ontario College of Family Physicians
- Naomi Schwartz MPH, Epidemiologist, Analytic Services, Public Health Ontario
- Anna Thurairatnam MBBS, DGO, MPH, Senior Project Manager, Provincial Council for Maternal and Child Health
- Caroline Wai MHSc, RD, Co-Chair, alPHa-OPHA Health Equity Workgroup
- Lori Webel-Edgar RN, BScN, MN, CCHN(c), Sr. Program Specialist (Healthy Babies Healthy Children), Health Promotion, Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention, Public Health Ontario

Finally, thank you to OPHA for their support, in particular, Robin Kang and Donna Smith for their assistance in formatting and referencing and Pegeen Walsh, OPHA Executive Director, for her guidance and leadership in championing this position paper.

//Table of Contents//

LIST OF ACRONYMS	5
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	7
PURPOSE AND SCOPE	9
INTRODUCTION	10
What is preconception health?	10
A brief history of preconception health	10
MAKING THE CASE	15
Preterm birth	16
Birth weight	17
Congenital anomalies	18
Neural tube defects and folic acid supplementation	20
Infant mortality	20
Maternal mortality	21
Emerging trends	21
CURRENT STRATEGIES	24
Public awareness campaigns	24
Reproductive life plans	26
Preconception health care integration	26
Health care provider outreach	28
Innovation and technology	29
GAPS AND CHALLENGES	31
Data monitoring	31
Research and evaluation	32
Political and public awareness	33
Target audience diversity	33
Resources	34
SHIFTING INTO ACTION	35
Interdisciplinary collaboration	35
Integration	37
Innovation	38
Inquiry	39
RECOMMENDATIONS	41
REFERENCES	42
APPENDIX A: PRECONCEPTION RISK FACTORS	51
APPENDIX B: CORE PRECONCEPTION HEALTH INDICATORS	56

//List of Acronyms//

- alPHa Association of Local Public Health Agencies
- APHEO Association of Public Health Epidemiologists In Ontario
- BMI Body Mass Index
- BORN Better Outcomes Registry and Network
- BSRC Best Start Resource Centre
- CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
- CIHI Canadian Institute for Health Information
- CPNP Canada Prenatal Nutrition Program
- EMR Electronic Medical Record
- FASD Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder
- HBHC Healthy Babies Healthy Children
- HCP Health Care Provider
- IOM Institute of Medicine and the National Research Council
- IUGR Intrauterine Growth Restriction
- LGBTQ Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer
- NTD Neural Tube Defect
- OAR Ontario Antenatal Record
- **OPHA Ontario Public Health Association**
- **OPHS Ontario Public Health Standards**
- PCC Preventive Care Checklist Form ©
- PCH Preconception Health
- PHAC Public Health Agency of Canada
- PHO Public Health Ontario
- RHO Rainbow Health Ontario
- RLP Reproductive Life Plan
- SOGC Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada

Preconception Health

Preconception health refers to the health of all individuals during their reproductive years, regardless of gender identity, gender expression or sexual orientation. It is an approach that promotes healthy fertility and focuses on actions that individuals can take to reduce risks, promote healthy lifestyles, and increase readiness for pregnancy, whether or not they plan to have children one day. A comprehensive approach includes actions on an individual, community and population level to promote preconception health.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



Despite universal access to high quality prenatal care and advances in medicine, adverse perinatal outcomes persist in Ontario. Although strong public health programs that use a life-course perspective exist, "they do not guarantee that women enter pregnancy in good health" [1]. There is growing evidence that preconception health (PCH) can improve maternal and child health outcomes, both in the short- and long-term [1,2]. In light of this, the Ontario Public Health Association (OPHA) Reproductive Health Workgroup has developed this position paper to advocate for coordinated and comprehensive action in the area of PCH in Ontario. Our aim is to shift public and political awareness and understanding of reproductive health to include PCH. This document will review the evidence that supports the need to shift attention to PCH, while examining promising current strategies, exploring existing gaps and challenges in the area, and lastly, outlining a set of concrete action steps to move a PCH agenda in Ontario forward.

PCH refers to the health of all individuals during their reproductive years, regardless of gender identity, gender expression or sexual orientation. It is an approach that promotes healthy fertility and focuses on actions that individuals can take to reduce risks, promote healthy lifestyles, and increase readiness for pregnancy, whether or not they plan to have children one day. Experts agree that in order to improve birth outcomes, which have reached a plateau in recent years, it is imperative to intervene before pregnancy [3]. Many of the maternal and paternal risk factors for poor birth outcomes, such as lifestyle behaviours, are modifiable in the preconception period [4,5,6]. In fact, research has shown that PCH has positive impacts on many reproductive health outcomes and is cost effective for specific interventions, such as folic acid supplementation and diabetes care [7,8]. While it is not an exhaustive list, PCH can:

- prevent preterm births;
- improve birth weight;
- prevent congenital anomalies, including neural tube defects;
- reduce infant mortality;
- reduce maternal mortality [1].

Although some progress has been made in the area of PCH in recent years, a comprehensive approach and a standardized framework with specific guidelines are absent both provincially and federally. In Ontario, although PCH promotion is mandated under the Ontario Public Health Standards [9], there is no standardized program for public health units to follow, leaving each health unit responsible for prioritizing resources and developing and delivering programming based on their own local need. In clinical care settings, standards are fragmented and guidance and supports to integrate PCH care into practice are often lacking leading to inconsistent and incomplete care across jurisdictions and institutions [10]. Given that nearly 50% of pregnancies are unplanned [11], every health care provider (HCP) contact with individuals of reproductive age provides a key opportunity to explore and discuss PCH topics such as healthy eating, physical activity, immunization status, reproductive life planning, substance use, chronic medical conditions, and exposure to environmental toxins [12]. Addressing these issues at the first prenatal appointment, as is often the case, is too late.

While the importance of PCH is clear, the most effective strategy for delivering services is currently unknown. Current evidence supports strategies such as public awareness campaigns, reproductive life plans, PCH care integration, and HCP outreach; however, more research is needed to determine effectiveness. Given the limited research on PCH strategies, examining effective approaches from other reproductive and public health programming is warranted. Furthermore, it is important to explore innovative ways to develop and deliver programming that moves beyond traditional individual level interventions, such as behavior change, to programming that focuses on broader community and system level interventions, such as socio-environmental changes, realignment of services and healthy public policies.

There are several major gaps and challenges which hamper effective implementation of a PCH agenda in Ontario, including lack of consistent and ongoing data monitoring, limited research and evaluation, lack of public and political awareness, limited diversity of target audiences (e.g., men, adolescents, LGBTQ, HCPs), and limited resources. Addressing the gaps and challenges will be essential for shifting the focus to encompass PCH in Ontario.

In ensuring optimal health for Ontarians, it is also essential to broaden the window of reproductive health practices to include PCH. To ensure a comprehensive approach to mobilizing this shift the following key actions must be activated:

- **Interdisciplinary collaboration** is needed to mobilize and support PCH in Ontario. Convening an intersectoral, interdisciplinary provincial PCH committee to lead the coordination of efforts and innovation across Ontario is recommended.
- **Integration** of PCH at multiple levels and in diverse settings is needed. This includes integrating interventions and key messages into public health and primary health care with all individuals of reproductive age (including men, and regardless of gender identity, gender expression or sexual orientation), developing standardized training and education for practicing HCPs as well as students in health related programs, and utilizing a variety of health promotion strategies to support individuals and communities to achieve optimal PCH.
- **Innovation** is needed to deliver PCH programming that moves beyond traditional modes of delivery and harnesses the power and reach of social media. Investment needs to be made in e-strategies and other innovative methods to work with partners and engage the public.
- **Inquiry** is needed through targeted, timely, and systematic data gathering, monitoring, research and evaluation. There are significant gaps in data and a lack of research in the area of PCH, especially from a Canadian perspective and in acknowledgement of Canadian realities. Facilitating the development of a comprehensive core indicator system and establishing a provincial repository where information on PCH programming and best practices can be stored and examined will aid service providers and practitioners in implementing effective programming on local and provincial levels.

In addressing these key action areas, it will be critical to apply a health equity lens and address the social determinants of health to complement the individual level focus of current PCH programming and ensure universality and accessibility of PCH.

PURPOSE & SCOPE



Despite universal access to high quality prenatal care and advances in medicine, adverse perinatal outcomes persist in Ontario. Although strong public health programs that use a life-course perspective exist, "they do not guarantee that women enter pregnancy in good health" [1]. There is growing evidence that preconception care – care before pregnancy – can improve maternal and child health outcomes, both in the short- and long-term [1,2]. In addition, as part of a life-course approach to public health programming, preconception care can bring health benefits to all individuals of reproductive age¹, regardless of whether or not they plan to become parents [13].

In Ontario, although preconception health (PCH) promotion is mandated under the Ontario Public Health Standards [9], there is no standardized program for public health units to follow, leaving each health unit responsible for prioritizing resources and developing and delivering programming based on their own local need. In clinical settings, standards are fragmented and guidance and supports to integrate preconception care into practice are lacking. Furthermore, there are no provincial programs for PCH delivery through health care providers (HCPs) [14]. As a result, PCH has not entered mainstream public awareness or routine practice with HCPs in Ontario [14].

In light of this the Ontario Public Health Association (OPHA) Reproductive Health Workgroup has developed this position paper to advocate for coordinated and comprehensive action in the area of PCH in Ontario. Our aim is to shift public and political awareness and understanding of reproductive health to include PCH. This document will review evidence that supports the need to shift attention to PCH, while examining promising current strategies, exploring existing gaps and challenges in the area, and lastly, outlining a set of concrete action steps to move a PCH agenda in Ontario forward. Increased attention worldwide is being directed to this area. It is our hope that this position paper will highlight the importance of establishing a PCH framework for Ontario and provide a foundation to assist and guide the province in harnessing the current momentum.

1. It is imperative that preconception health programming is inclusive to all individuals of reproductive age, regardless of gender identity, gender expression, or sexual orientation. Throughout this paper, we refer to "all individuals of reproductive age" as an inclusive term.

INTRODUCTION



What is preconception health?

Preconception health refers to the health of all individuals during their reproductive years, regardless of gender identity, gender expression or sexual orientation. It is an approach that promotes healthy fertility and focuses on actions that individuals can take to reduce risks, promote healthy lifestyles, and increase readiness for pregnancy, whether or not they plan to have children one day. A comprehensive approach includes actions on an individual, community and population level to promote preconception health.

Although preconception includes "all individuals", strategies addressing preconception have typically focused on the 'heterosexual woman's' needs [4]. Limited work, including programming, research and data collection, has been done on males or the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer (LGBTQ) population; however, it is critical that PCH care, programming and policy shifts to be more inclusive of diversity. Inclusion of partners in PCH promotion is of utmost importance as they are affected by and contribute to many health issues and risk factors that influence maternal and child health, such as sexually transmitted infections, smoking, partner violence, substance use, immunization status, stress, and environmental exposures (see Appendix A). As a result, preconception initiatives must reach all individuals to ensure that they are healthy in their own right and promote the health of mothers and newborns [15].

PCH not only addresses health before a first pregnancy, but also the interval between pregnancies, referred to as interconception. Experiences from a previous pregnancy can identify areas that could benefit from intervention prior to a subsequent pregnancy, for example addressing maternal health issues such as diabetes and obesity (including excess gestational weight gain and postpartum weight loss), and reflecting on previous birth outcomes, such as preterm birth and congenital anomalies. It also provides an opportunity to assess for perinatal mood disorders, immunization status and discuss breastfeeding in preparation for future pregnancies.

A brief history of preconception health

It has been over thirty years since the concept of preconception was introduced [16]. However, it has only been in the last eight years that PCH has been receiving more attention from researchers, policy makers and HCPs. The establishment of the Preconception Care Work Group and the Select Panel on

Preconception Care by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) in 2006 was a major milestone for PCH. Assembled leaders and practitioners from various fields including primary care, research, policy, public health, and education, identified consistent terminology, critically reviewed research, and developed a strategy for advancing PCH in the United States [17].

A significant outcome to emerge was the release of a seminal report entitled "Recommendations to Improve Preconception Health and Health Care – United States: A Report of the CDC/ATSDR Preconception Care Work Group and the Select Panel on Preconception Care" [17]. The report made 10 overall recommendations for PCH and care within the United States; some of which may not be relevant to Canada:

- 1. Individual Responsibility Across the Lifespan All individuals of reproductive age should be encouraged to have a plan for reproductive life (e.g., whether and when to have children);
- 2. Consumer Awareness Increase public awareness of PCH behaviours and services;
- Preventive Visits As part of routine care, provide risk assessment and health promotion services to all women of reproductive years to reduce reproductive risk and improve birth outcomes;
- 4. Interventions for Identified Risks Increase the proportion of women who receive intervention for identified risks;
- 5. Interconception Care Use the period between pregnancies to provide assessment and intervention to women who had a previous pregnancy that ended in an adverse outcome;
- 6. Pre-pregnancy Check-Up As part of maternity care, offer one visit to couples and persons planning a pregnancy;
- 7. Health Insurance Coverage for Women with Low Incomes Increase public and private health insurance coverage for preconception and interconception services;
- 8. Public Health Programs and Strategies Integrate preconception services into existing local public health and related programs;
- 9. Research Increase the evidence-base and promote the use of evidence in PCH;
- **10. Monitoring Improvements** Maximize public health surveillance and related research mechanisms to improve PCH [17].

It also included a specific action plan for moving a PCH agenda forward.

Since 2006, there have been significant strides in promoting PCH, particularly in the United States. Although these recent efforts have helped to advance preconception research, intervention development and public awareness, Canadian efforts have been modest. In Ontario, a more comprehensive approach is needed - one which includes attention to policy and consideration to reframing health promotion and health care. Giving consideration to efforts beyond the province's borders may provide some insight on how to fully integrate PCH into reproductive health promotion and clinical care. Below are key examples of global, national and provincial developments in the area of preconception; however, this is not an exhaustive list.

Global developments

The World Health Organization's (WHO) "Born Too Soon: The Global Action Report on Preterm Birth" [15] identifies that everyone has a role to play in reducing preterm birth. The document recognizes preconception as a key period to effect change to the preterm birth rate. It proposes actions for policy, programs and research by all partners – from governments and policy makers, to healthcare workers and their associations, to academics and researchers, and the business community and civil society [15]. In follow-up to the Born Too Soon recommendations, WHO convened a meeting of experts to develop a global consensus on preconception care to reduce maternal and childhood mortality and morbidity [13]. The report chronicles detailed conversations regarding definitions, next steps and a 'menu of interventions' for categorizing the "health problems, problem behaviours and risk factors that contribute to maternal and childhood mortality and morbidity in thirteen domains, evidence-based interventions to address them and mechanisms of delivering them" [13].

CDC's work since 2006 has been impressive and it has helped to better address and integrate PCH within the United States. Following the release of their report, the CDC assembled leaders and practitioners from various fields to form the Preconception Health and Health Care Steering Committee. To ensure a comprehensive approach the steering committee formed five workgroups to address different facets of PCH: clinical, public health, consumer, policy and finance, and surveillance and research [18].



The increased attention to PCH has resulted in more research and scholarly publications. The American Journal of Health Promotion [19] focused an entire issue on effective strategies for promoting PCH. Articles include positioning the message dependent on the audience and effective strategies in a variety of environments. In 2008, the American Journal of Obstetricians and Gynecology [20] also devoted its entire publication to preconception health. Articles addressed the importance of integrating preconception into clinical care and highlighted the key components of preconception care, including the quality of evidence to support clinical interventions.

National developments

In Canada, although there has not been the same attention or focus on PCH as in the United States, there has been some notable work on a national level. Motherisk [21] is a program at The Hospital for Sick Children that provides evidence-based counselling to women and HCPs across Canada on healthy pregnancy and breastfeeding. In a 2013 update, Motherisk addressed the need for preconception care, noting that "if pregnancies are planned, many potential risks … can be identified and managed preemptively, thus enhancing maternal and child health" [5]. Twelve evidence-based preconception intervention categories were highlighted for women of reproductive age, as outlined in table 1.

While this update addresses a number of PCH interventions, some opportune interventions are lacking, notably screening, treatment and prevention of STIs, including HIV/AIDS in individual and sexual partners [22]; planning and prevention of unintended pregnancies [23]; promotion of optimal birth spacing [22]; and utilization of contact with an individual to provide health education [24,25].



Table 1: Preconception Health Interventions [5]		
1. Eat a well-balanced diet	7. Reduce stress	
2. Exercise regularly	8. Manage chronic medical conditions	
3. Cease smoking	 Identify and treat women at risk of severe morning sickness 	
4. Avoid alcohol intake	10. Maintain a healthy weight	
5. Cease illicit drug use	11. Take multivitamins with folic acid	
6. Reduce environmental toxin exposure	12. Get vaccinated	

The Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada (SOGC) has incorporated select PCH recommendations within a number of their clinical practice guidelines, a sampling of which include: Alcohol Use and Pregnancy Consensus Clinical Guidelines [26]; Obesity in Pregnancy [27]; Diagnosis, Evaluation and Management of the Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy [28]; Rubella in Pregnancy [29]; and Teratogenicity Associated with Pre-Existing and Gestational Diabetes [30]. In addition to practice guidelines, SOGC partnered with the Best Start Resource Centre (BSRC) to develop a Canadian prenatal resource called "Healthy Beginnings" which includes information from preconception to birth² [31]. While these are initial steps, the PCH messages are limited and fragmented and a specific PCH guideline is needed to support integration of care into practice.

Despite the work of Motherisk and SOGC on a national stage, there has been an absence of federal leadership in the area of PCH. Developing a vision, framework, guidelines and seminal documents are necessary to move a PCH agenda forward in a systematic and comprehensive manner. Bialystok et al's [10] article calls for the development of national guidelines, recommending "preconception care and education be incorporated into school curricula and the workplace, delivered through the media, and offered through community-based agencies". Furthermore, Bialystok et al [10] notes that from a clinical care perspective "national leadership to foster collaborative development of authoritative guidelines and goals could reduce existing confusion and encourage more comprehensive and consistent application of preconception care, setting the stage for a more integrated approach". This vision could also extend beyond care alone to include health promotion as well.

2. This resource will no longer be available in print form as of 2015. Information from the "Healthy Beginnings" resource will be available on the SOGC website.

Provincial developments

Alberta has been the only province to date to develop a PCH agenda, releasing their 'Preconception Health Framework' in 2007 [2]. The framework identifies that "despite advances in medical science, universal access to health services and high quality prenatal care, rates of adverse perinatal outcomes persist and some problems are increasing" [2]. With this in mind, the document sets out a preconception health framework with three key strategies as an avenue to impact this concern:

- 1. Promote Public Awareness and Knowledge;
- 2. Build Capacity to Provide PCH Services;
- 3. Champion PCH Supporting Environments.

Unfortunately, the Alberta framework has not been implemented in its entirety but has been used as a backgrounder and guide for many Alberta initiatives.

While no formal PCH framework has been developed to date in Ontario, there has been growing attention on the issue. For example, the Healthy Kids Panel released a report entitled "No Time to Wait: The Healthy Kids Strategy" [32]. The report acknowledged PCH, stating that "Ontario's public health system must develop guidelines and tools that the public health system, primary care provider and the education system will use to deliver a coordinated education program for all young women in Ontario of childbearing age and their partners". Two relevant recommendations included:

- "Educating women of childbearing age about the impact of their health and weight on their own well-being and on the health and well-being of their children",
- "Enhance primary and obstetrical care to include a standard pre-pregnancy health check and wellness visit for women planning a pregnancy and their partners".

BSRC has been a provincial leader in promoting PCH and developing related professional and public resources. In 2009, BSRC released three PCH documents detailing the realities in Ontario:

- 1. Awareness and Behaviours [117];
- 2. Public Health Initiatives [14];
- 3. Physician Practices [216].

A sampling of other BSRC initiatives include the Health Before Pregnancy website³, a resource for dads⁴, a report examining the issue of obesity during the preconception and prenatal periods [33], and a Reproductive Life Plan⁵ for youth.

Despite promising work occurring in the area of PCH, a comprehensive provincial approach and framework with specific guidelines is absent. Although the Healthy Kids Panel report [32] provided a refreshing perspective for promoting the health of children, further integration of PCH parameters is needed and a call for provincial leadership and coordination in this area is required.

^{3.} www.healthbeforepregnancy.ca

^{4.} www.beststart.org/resources/preconception/men_health_bro_2012.pdf

^{5. &}lt;u>http://www.beststart.org/resources/preconception/MLMP_14MY01_Final.pdf</u>



Healthy birth outcomes contribute to the foundation for healthy children and families [34]. Conversely, poor birth outcomes have the potential to create detrimental lifelong growth and developmental outcomes for children and can also lead to higher costs and strains on families and society [34]. For example, the estimated average neonatal hospital costs for babies less than 2,500g (low birth weight) in Canada ranges from \$4,600.00 - \$117,800.00, compared to \$950.00 for the cost of a baby who weighs more than 2,500g [35].

Traditionally, reproductive health programming in public health has focused on prenatal and postpartum services, such as in-class and online prenatal classes, the Canada Prenatal Nutrition Program (CPNP), and the Healthy Babies Healthy Children (HBHC) Program. Despite such programming, advances in medical science and quality prenatal care, poor birth outcomes continue to be a national and provincial concern [2,36]. Adverse perinatal outcomes, such as moderate and late preterm births (32 to <37 weeks gestation), are increasing and are associated with the trend to delay childbearing, which has resulted in a rise in reproductive assistance and multiple births [37,38]. Experts agree that in order to improve pregnancy outcomes, which have reached a plateau in recent years, it is imperative to intervene before pregnancy to educate, screen, modify and manage health conditions and risk factors to promote optimal maternal and infant health outcomes [3].

Unfortunately, providing care to individuals from a preconception lens is not routine. Clinical care standards supporting PCH care are fragmented leading to inconsistent and incomplete PCH care in many jurisdictions and institutions [10]. Typically, a women's first visit to a HCP regarding pregnancy does not occur until the end of the first trimester of pregnancy. By this time, an important opportunity for intervention to reduce maternal and infant mortality and morbidity risk factors has been missed, since the critical period for fetal development has already occurred. In addition, nearly 50% of pregnancies are unplanned, creating yet another missed opportunity for interventions [11]. In acknowledgement of this, Moos et al [12] states that every HCP contact with individuals of reproductive age provides a key opportunity to explore and discuss PCH topics such as healthy eating, physical activity, immunization status, substance use and reproductive life planning (including birth spacing, contraceptive use, and the prevention of unplanned pregnancies). To wait for the first prenatal appointment is too late. This sentiment is echoed in the Healthy Kids Panel report [32] and MAINPRO® CME Improving the Odds: Healthy Child Development toolkit [39] which both endorse recommendations to bring attention to the period before pregnancy.

Demonstrating the cost effectiveness of PCH is an important part of making the case for public health investment. Like many other areas of public health, there is limited economic evaluation of PCH care [7, 8]. There have been analyses showing the financial benefits of specific preconception care interventions, such as folic acid supplementation [40] and diabetes care [41]. Herman et al [41] found a cost savings of \$34,000 USD per participant in a diabetes care program based on reductions in length of maternal hospital

stays and neonatal Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) admissions compared to women who did not participate in the program. However, Salihu et al [7] argue that more comprehensive economic analyses needs to be conducted, specifically calling for comparative effective research, an approach that helps to identify the most effective interventions in real world settings with acceptable costs to society. The economic benefits of preconception care intervention can also be drawn from examining the costs of health issues that can be identified, treated or prevented before pregnancy. For example, the cost to society of HIV/AIDS and other STIs are enormous [42]. The Canadian AIDS Society estimates that HIV/AIDS is costing Canadians \$1.3 million for every new diagnosis, when taking into consideration the lifetime economic losses associated with the impact of HIV/AIDS on quality of life (\$380,000/person), health care costs (\$250,000/person) and labour productivity (\$670,000/person) [43]. HIV/AIDS can have serious implications during pregnancy. However, proper management before conception can significantly improve maternal and child outcomes, such as prevention of vertical transmission, providing significant long-term cost savings to society.

To further understand the benefit of shifting our attention to PCH, it is important to highlight current data on some well recognized reproductive health indicators, including preterm birth, birth weight, congenital anomalies, infant mortality, and maternal mortality. While it is not an exhaustive list, its intention is to draw attention on the detrimental impact of some of these indicators on maternal and infant health to further support our call to action.



Figure 1: Preconception health impact on selective reproductive health indicators

Preterm birth

According to the Born Too Soon Executive Summary Group, globally 15 million babies are born preterm⁶ each year and the rates are increasing in almost all countries [15]. Furthermore, over 1 million children die annually due to the complications of preterm birth and many that survive face a lifetime of disability, including learning, vision, and hearing disabilities [15]. Globally, preterm birth is the leading cause of newborn deaths (babies in the first four weeks of life) and the second leading cause of death in children under five (after pneumonia) [15].

The Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI), reports that 7.9% of babies born in a Canadian hospital between 2010 and 2011 were preterm, while provincially the preterm rate was 8.1% in Ontario – the second highest provincial rate following Alberta at 8.6%⁷ [46]. The preterm birth rate is the percentage of all live births that occur before 37 completed weeks of gestation [45,46]. In Canada, the preterm birth

6. Preterm is defined as babies born alive before 37 weeks of pregnancy are completed. Preterm babies can be categorized based on their gestational age at birth: extremely preterm (<28 weeks); very preterm (28 to <32 weeks); moderate to late preterm (32 to <37 weeks) [78]. 7. Although Alberta has the highest rate of preterm births in 2012 (8.6%), their rate has decreased since 2005 (9.1%) [2].

rate has been increasing and has been identified as the leading cause of neonatal and infant mortality [47].

Preterm birth occurs for many reasons – some of them unknown. However, strong associations have been found between preterm birth and multiple pregnancies, maternal diabetes, maternal hypertension, and previous preterm deliveries, while other associations include maternal age (less than 20 or greater than 35 years), a women's first delivery (primiparous birth), single marital status, smoking, illicit drug use, maternal stress, pre-pregnancy weight (underweight, overweight or obese), low or excessive gestational weight gain, and race/ethnicity [45]. As cited in the CDC Select Panel report, there is also evidence to support that women with low income who experienced "reduced overall health status (including poorer physical and emotional health)" one month prior to becoming pregnant were at greater risk of preterm labour [17].

It is imperative that there is an investment in prevention through PCH. The Born Too Soon Executive Summary Group further supports this investment and shift in attention by stating that "family planning, and increased empowerment of women, especially adolescents, plus improved quality of care before, between and during pregnancy can help to reduce preterm birth rates [and] strategic investments in innovation and research are required to accelerate progress" [15].

Birth weight

Birth weight is one of the most significant indicators of an infant's chances of survival, health and development [94]; both low and high birth weights are of concern and have long-term health implications. The CIHI, reports that 6.1% of babies born in a Canadian hospital between 2010 and 2011 had a low birth weight, while provincially the rate was 6.6% in Ontario [46]. The low birth weight rate is defined by CIHI as any live birth weighing between 500-2,499 grams⁸. However, it must be recognized that APHEO's and PHAC's definition of low birth weight differs from CIHI in that it includes any live birth weighing less than 2,500 grams [47,48]. Unfortunately, a consistent definition of low birth weight is not adhered to by various organizations thus impacting the interpretation of statistics within our country.

According to APHEO, "low birth weight may be associated with premature birth or slow growth of the fetus or both, but each issue has different public health implications" [48]. Furthermore, low birth weight and preterm birth are often associated in terms of their significant link to infant mortality and morbidity [17]. For example,



^{8.} It is worth noting that low birth weight is ideally considered within the context of gestational age, and that there are other relevant birth weight indicators, including very low birth weight rate (VLBW), extremely low birth weight rate (ELBW), small for gestational age (SGA), and large for gestational age (LGA) – however for the purpose of this paper, the focus remained on low birth weight [48].

there is growing evidence to demonstrate that low birth weight can lead to a wide range of deleterious health and developmental problems both in childhood and later in life, such as diabetes [50], hypertension, ischemic heart disease, stroke, malignancies, osteoarthritis, and dementia [30]. Such findings suggest the impact of in-utero developmental conditions, such as under or malnutrition, on the future health of the infant [50] and emphasize the need for effective primary prevention before conception occurs.

Growing attention has also been drawn to high birth weights, defined as a birth weight of 4,500 grams or more [49], due to the link to intermediate and long-term health problems, including childbirth complications as well as child and adult morbidity and mortality [50,51,52,53]. High birth weight can increase risk for type 2 diabetes, asthma, hypertension, breast cancer, and childhood leukemia [50, 52]. New evidence suggests that high birth weight increases risk of being overweight [50] or obese [33,100] later on in life in life.

Birth weight is affected by many factors, including maternal age, birth spacing, multiple births, gestational age, parity, lifestyle factors (e.g., smoking), weight gain, intrauterine infection, diabetes, genetic factors, and more [36]. A growing amount of research also points to the links between birth weight and social determinants of health, such as race, income, and physical and social environments [53,54].

Congenital anomalies

Congenital anomalies, also known as birth defects or congenital malformations, are "abnormalities that are present at birth, even if not diagnosed until months or years later" [55]. In Canada, about "1 in 25 infants is diagnosed yearly with one or more congenital anomalies" [55]. They are a leading cause of infant death, second only to preterm birth [55,56]. Six significant categories of congenital anomalies in Canada include: Down syndrome (trisomy 21), congenital heart defects, neural tube defects, orofacial clefts, musculoskeletal anomalies (including limb deficiency defects), and gastroschisis [55,57]. The most severe and fatal congenital anomalies include anecephaly, trisomies 13 and 18, and severe congenital heart defects [58].

The congenital anomalies rate is the number of live births and stillbirths identified as having at least one congenital anomaly, per 10,000 live births and stillbirths [57]. In 2009, for every 10,000 live births and stillbirths that occurred in Ontario, 386.1 babies were born with a congenital anomaly [57]. It is suspected that the rate of congenital anomalies is under reported due to certain conditions not being diagnosed after birth, and due to pregnancies terminated as a result of prenatal screening and diagnosis [55,57].

The majority of congenital anomalies (40% - 60%) are from unknown causes [57]. General known causes include: genetic conditions, infections, chronic diseases, pharmaceutical drugs, recreational drugs, and environmental risks [55]. The following highlights some of this information.

Genetic conditions such as chromosomal and Mendelian inherited disorders are known to cause congenital anomalies including Down syndrome. For instance, advanced maternal age is reported to be the "most significant established risk factor for Down syndrome" [55]. Attention to late paternal age should also be considered, especially regarding the "increased risks for de novo genetic mutations" [55].

Infections commonly associated with congenital anomalies include: rubella, cytomegalovirus, varicella and toxoplasmosis [58]. According to Public Health Agency of Canada, "cytomegalovirus and toxoplasmosis are now the most common known infectious teratogens" [55]. Sexually transmitted infections, such as

chlamydia, gonorrhea, syphilis, and human immunodeficiency virus can also be associated with birth defects if left untreated [55].

Chronic diseases commonly known to increase the risk of congenital anomalies include: maternal obesity, hypertension, diabetes, and thyroid disease [55]. A number of these chronic conditions "may co-exist and all increase in prevalence with advanced maternal age" [55]. For example, maternal obesity has been associated with "neural tube defects, congenital heart defects, orofacial clefts, hydrocephalus, anorectal atresia and limb reduction abnormalities". Diabetes has been associated with an increased risk for spontaneous abortions, fetal growth abnormalities and for the child developing "obesity, diabetes, and attention disorder". Thyroid disease has been linked to birth defects such as "congenital heart disease, hydrocephaly, hypospadias and isolated anorectal atresia" [55].

Pharmaceutical drugs commonly associated with congenital anomalies include: folic acid antagonists (e.g., Methotrexate), anticonvulsants/anti-epileptics (e.g., Dilantin), coumarin derivatives (e.g., Warfarin), angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors/antihypertensives (e.g., Ramipril), and retinoids (e.g., Accutane) [55,58].

Furthermore, recreational drugs, maternal smoking, and environmental risks have also been associated with congenital anomalies. For example, some recreational drugs have been associated with "gastroschisis and neuroblastoma," maternal smoking has been associated with an "increased risk of defects of the cardiovascular, orofacial clefts, musculoskeletal and gastrointestinal systems," and environmental risks such as living "near industrial sites or socioeconomically deprived areas" (e.g., landfill sites) have been linked to birth defects and some types of cancers [55].

However, the most widely used drug known to cause adverse fetal effects is alcohol [58]. A woman's alcohol consumption in pregnancy can cause fetal harm, specifically fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) [26]. FASD is the leading known cause of preventable birth defects and developmental disability among Canadian children [59]. Approximately 9 in every 1,000 babies born in Canada are affected by FASD [59]. According to the Canadian Maternity Experiences Survey, 10.5% of pregnant women continue to drink during pregnancy; with binge drinking reported in 11% of women prior to realizing they were pregnant [60]. Addressing the issue of alcohol consumption before conception is critical. Given that almost half of all pregnancies are unintended [26] and that 62.4% of women of reproductive age report alcohol use during the three months prior to pregnancy [61], prevention of FASD requires education in the preconception period. The SOGC has published "Alcohol Use and Pregnancy Consensus Clinical Guidelines" to help physicians address the issue of alcohol use during pregnancy and supports a PCH approach [26].

Overall, primary prevention is key in reducing the burden of all types of known congenital anomalies. Public health initiatives to prevent or reduce exposures to all well documented risk factors should be strengthened [55].

"Laying the foundation for a lifetime of good health begins even before babies are conceived, and continues through the first months of life. We must provide the support young women need to maintain their own health and start their babies on the path to health" - Government of Ontario (Healthy Kids Panel) [32].

Neural tube defects and folic acid supplementation

One of the congenital anomalies with ongoing attention is neural tube defects (NTDs). NTDs occur when the baby's spinal cord, skull, or brain does not develop normally, resulting in the neural tube (which develops into the brain and spinal cord) failing to close properly [62]. Examples of NTDs are "spina bifida (the spine or its covering stick outside of the body), anencephaly (absence of part of the brain), and encephalocele (part of the brain grows outside the skull)" [62].

The NTD rate is the number of live and stillbirths in which the infant has a neural tube defect, per 10,000 live and stillbirths. In 2009, for every 10,000 live and stillbirths that occurred in Ontario, 4.2 babies had a neural tube defect [57]. NTDs are extremely costly to society - the direct health care costs for children with spina bifida in Canada is \$1.7 million per year [63]. This does not reflect the lost economic potential related to spina bifida or the psychosocial costs of spina bifida on children and their families.

While there is some evidence that NTDs are decreasing due to folic acid supplementation, (Canada mandated the fortification of all white flour and pasta products in 1998), it does not eliminate them completely [64]. The consumption of a daily multivitamin that contains 0.4-1.0 mg of folic acid for all women of reproductive age is therefore recommended to reduce the risk of having a baby with a NTD [65]. A higher daily dose of up to 5 mg of folic acid may be suggested by a HCP for women with increased risk factors for NTDs, such as obesity, diabetes, and epilepsy [62]. Yi et al [40] have demonstrated that the economic benefits of prevention of NTDs with folic acid supplementation far outweigh the costs. An emerging issue is the increasing number of individuals avoiding fortified wheat containing products and adopting a gluten-free diet, either by choice or for medical reasons, such as celiac disease. It is estimated that celiac disease affects approximately 1% of Canadians [66]. Women, who adopt a gluten-free diet, are not benefiting from fortified products and may be at risk of inadequate folate intake, thereby further emphasizing the need for supplementation [67].

According to Health Canada, two thirds of NTDs could be prevented if all women of reproductive age took a multivitamin containing folic acid daily [58]. However, it is important to note that accessing or following through with folic acid supplementation recommendations may be a challenge or barrier for some women, particularly those with disabilities, low education, and those from low socio-economic status. Interestingly, the Canadian Community Health Survey in 2011 reported from 2007 to 2010 that only 50.4% of women who had been pregnant in the last five years had taken folic acid before they knew they were pregnant [158]. These results highlight the importance of enhancing public awareness about NTDs and the importance of taking a multivitamin with folic acid in the preconception period as a prevention strategy for women, especially those with increased risk factors.

Infant mortality

The most alarming birth outcome is infant mortality. The infant mortality rate is the total number of deaths of live born infants 364 days of age or younger, per 1,000 live births [68]. The infant mortality rate is considered an indicator of population health and well-being [69]. High infant mortality rates within a community are an indication of poor social and economic conditions, such as low levels of education and limited access and equity in health service availability [70,71]. Infant mortality rates are reported to be higher among multiple births and births to women over 35 years of age [72,73]. In 2011, Canada had an infant mortality rate of 4.8 infants per 1,000 live births. Ontario's infant mortality rate was slightly lower than the national average with 4.6 infants per 1,000 live births [74].

Although Canada has dramatically decreased its infant mortality rate over the past few decades, other countries have done significantly better. More specifically, Canada had the second highest rate of infant mortality among seventeen peer countries, while Japan, Sweden and Finland had the lowest rates respectively [75]. According to the Conference Board of Canada [75], the greater number of low birth weight and preterm babies, coupled with the discrepancies among countries in defining "live births", could be contributing to Canada's higher rate of infant mortality.



Maternal mortality

The maternal mortality rate is the total number of maternal deaths (occurring during pregnancy, childbirth or within 42 days after delivery or termination of pregnancy) divided by the number of deliveries per 100,000 delivered [76]. Similar to the infant mortality rate, the maternal mortality rate is an indicator of the health of the community and health equity disparities.

Compared to many parts of the world, Canada is a safe place to have a baby, demonstrated by relatively low and stable rates of maternal mortality. However, a WHO report [78] highlighted that Canada's maternal mortality rate rose from 6 to 11 per 100,000 births between 1990 and 2013 [77]. More analysis is required to determine the exact reason for the increase in rates, but experts suggest that rising chronic health issues, such as obesity and diabetes, as well as delaying childbearing could be contributors [78]. Shifting focus to preconception health messaging and interventions may provide opportunities to impact these confounders. In the case of diabetes, research and guidelines demonstrate a clear need to address diabetes in the preconception period [30,79,80].

Emerging trends

In addition to the well-researched risk factors discussed above, there are several newer issues that also highlight the need for intervention prior to conception. Some of these include advanced maternal age, obesity, and mental health.

Advanced maternal age

The population of women giving birth who are 35 years or older (also referred to as women of advanced maternal age) is growing. According to CIHI [81], "almost one in every five births in Canada is to a woman age 35 or over". More specifically, this rate has "increased from 15% in 1998 to 18% in 2007" with a projection that this rate will continue to rise [81].

This growing trend has important implications on preconception health interventions due to the impacts on fertility as well as maternal and infant health outcomes. In women, fertility begins to decline in the early 30's and continues to drop as a woman's age increases. Health Canada [218] reports that 77% of

women at age 35 are physiologically able to become pregnant, while at age 40, this decreases to 53%. Although men do not experience a similar decline in their fertility, remaining fertile into their 60's and 70's, concerns about the quality and quantity of older men's sperm exists [82,218].

Compared to women under the age of 35, women of advanced maternal age are more likely to have preexisting medical conditions, such as hypertension, diabetes, cancer and arthritis, which may impact their fertility and also increase risk to the developing fetus once pregnant [55,83]. During pregnancy the development of conditions such as diabetes, hypertension, pre-eclampsia, and placenta previa are more common among women over 35 years [84,85,86,87] and at birth there is a higher risk for requiring a Caesarean section [88,92]. A recent WHO report [78] also suggests that advanced maternal age could possibly be one contributor to the rise in maternal mortality rate in Canada.

Babies born to women of advanced maternal age are at increased risk of congenital anomalies, chromosomal and non-chromosomal abnormalities, preterm birth, low birth weight, small for gestational age, and intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) [86,87,89,90,91]. To address this current trend and to assist women in making an informed choice in their reproductive plan, it is recommended that women be well informed regarding the impact of age on fertility and birth outcomes.

Obesity

Another issue receiving considerable attention is maternal obesity. Several key documents have highlighted the importance of optimizing maternal pre-pregnancy body weight [32,33,94]. The Institute of Medicine and the National Research Council [94] and Health Canada [65] recommend women enter pregnancy with a Body Mass Index (BMI) of 18.5-24.9. According to the Canadian Community Health Survey in 2012, 39.1% of women of reproductive age (18 to 49 years) in Ontario were obese or overweight [49]. Being underweight, overweight or obese before conception has been linked to chronic medical conditions and reproductive, pregnancy and birth related complications [33,94]. For example, maternal obesity has been linked to "neural tube defects, selected forms of congenital heart disease, cleft lip, cleft palate, anorectal atresia, hydrocephalus, and limb reduction deficiencies" [55]. These harms are magnified with gaining excess gestational weight during pregnancy. Given this, Health Canada [65], SOGC [27], and the Institute of Medicine [94] recommends "offering preconceptional services, such as counseling on diet and physical activity as well as access to contraception, to all overweight or obese women to help them reach a healthy weight before conceiving".

Increasingly during pregnancy, women are gaining more weight than recommended by gestational weight gain guidelines, posing additional risks to maternal and fetal health [33]. Over 50% of women in the overweight and obese BMI category gain in excess of the gestational weight gain guidelines [95], putting them at risk for postpartum weight retention. Consequently this may put women in a higher BMI category for subsequent pregnancies. Furthermore, the increased risks associated with excess gestational weight gain include: preeclampsia, gestational diabetes, gestational hypertension, Caesarean section, small or large for gestational age babies, and overweight/obesity in childhood [27,94,97,98,99,100].

Interestingly, attention has also been directed to the link between parental obesity and childhood obesity [32,33]. Given the links between pregnancy weight gain and child health, a recent study suggested that preventing maternal overnutrition, overweight and/or diabetes during pregnancy could be a promising strategy for preventing childhood obesity [50].

Mental health

The importance of mental health before pregnancy is becoming increasingly evident. A recent study found that women who reported poor mental health before pregnancy were 40% more likely to have a pregnancy complication, almost 50% more likely to have a non-live birth, and nearly twice as likely to deliver a low birth weight infant [101]. Once pregnant, mental illness can affect a mother's functional status including her decision making capacity, which may impair her ability to obtain prenatal care and avoid dangerous behaviours [102,103]. Women with poor mental health, such as depression, may be more likely to use substances, such as alcohol, drugs before nicotine. and illicit and during pregnancy [102,104,105,106]. In addition, severe depression can increase the risk of self-harm, psychosis, and impulsive and harmful behaviours that can affect pregnancy [102,107].

LGBTQ women may also be predisposed to perinatal depression due to issues related to social support, the couple relationship, and legal and policy barriers [109,175]. Challenges due to difficulty conceiving and heterosexism within the fertility system were also identified as having emotional consequences to lesbian and bisexual women trying to conceive [109]. The family context of lesbian and bisexual women differs from that of heterosexual women and fertility services may not be reflective of these differences. Issues such as the language used on forms, accepting the relationship of the sperm donor (i.e. may not be a sexual/intimate partner), and who, in a same-sex woman relationship, plans to be the biological mother are facets that differ from heterosexual care [109,110]. Such findings emphasize the importance of intervening prior to pregnancy to address and improve mental health and functioning.



Preconception counselling and risk assessment can provide an opportunity to review and modify medication use if necessary. Although most commonly used antidepressants are not major teratogens and are safe to consume during pregnancy, some women discontinue the use of antidepressants during pregnancy due to fear of harming their babies [111,112]. Since the sudden discontinuation of antidepressants can cause women to experience "discontinuation of symptoms or re-emergence of the primary psychiatric disorder" [108,112], it is important to educate women of reproductive age with mental health issues about the safety and efficacy of taking antidepressants during pregnancy.

In summary, there are multiple risk factors for poor birth outcomes including preterm birth, low birth weight, congenital anomalies (such as neural tube defects), and infant and maternal mortality. New evidence highlights that maternal obesity, advanced age and mental health may also contribute to poor outcomes. Many of these risk factors are modifiable in the preconception period and should be addressed by HCPs. Recognizing that it takes multiple attempts to affect change in health behaviours, it is important for health professionals to identify and provide interventions related to these risk factors for all individuals throughout the reproductive years. For a detailed review of specific preconception risk factors and strategies to address them, please refer to Appendix A.

CURRENT STRATEGIES



While the importance of PCH is clear, the most effective strategy for delivering services is currently unknown. A review by Shannon et al [113] identified primary care as the most common method of PCH service delivery; however, the authors also concluded that there is no consensus on the best way to deliver PCH and argued that multiple strategies acting synergistically may best facilitate service delivery. Furthermore, Mitchell and Verbiest [114] note that strategies to address PCH from both health promotion and clinical intervention levels are challenging because of the high number of unplanned pregnancies and the number of issues that should be addressed in the preconception period (e.g., lifestyle, screenings and vaccinations, chronic disease management). However, it is important that PCH strategies be delivered on both community and clinical levels to maximize reach [13].

In the absence of a standardized provincial or national framework, critically examining and using current evidence is necessary to inform the programming for PCH. A recent literature review by Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health Unit (WDGPH) explored health promotion strategies for increasing PCH awareness and behaviour change [115]. While not a systematic review, four strategies were recommended: public awareness campaigns, reproductive life plans, PCH visits, and HCP outreach. These strategies, along with emerging initiatives in the area of innovation and technology, will be critically examined in this section.

Public awareness campaigns

Raising public awareness of PCH is well supported by the literature as an important and popular strategy [17,114,115]. Various health communication campaigns have been developed in Ontario on both local and provincial levels, such as the 2013 "What's Your Plan?" ⁹ campaign by Toronto Public Health and the BSRC 2005 "Is there a Baby in your Future? Plan for it"¹⁰ campaign. Often campaigns include both web and print-based approaches, with an increasing number of campaigns exclusively using the web and social media to promote messaging. WDGPH [44] surveyed 26 of the 36 Ontario public health units and found that the development and implementation of community campaigns and website information was common. Unfortunately, the majority of strategies only targeted women. Mitchell and Verbiest [114] note that often preconception campaigns focus on single health topics for women of reproductive age (e.g., folic acid supplementation, avoiding alcohol intake); however, the current challenge is to determine how best to communicate the breadth of preconception topics and target more diverse audiences, such as men, adolescents and LGBTQ. The authors argue that communication campaigns need to "effectively bundle and deliver a PCH 'package' to consumers in a way that resonates with them and motivates them to take action" [114]. Furthermore, to date, most strategies and messages have targeted individuals,

9. http://www.toronto.ca/health/pregnancy/before_pregnancy.htm#tab_1

10. http://www.healthbeforepregnancy.ca/future.htm

leveraging heavily from chronic disease prevention programming, such as healthy eating and lifestyle messaging. However, it is important that PCH also employ strategies that target community and system level changes to shift the onus from the individual to the broader community [13].

Some additional challenges with existing PCH campaigns are that target audiences vary and messages may not be clear [116]. This can hinder message uptake and ultimately impact desired outcomes, such as behaviour change. Furthermore, limited evaluation has been conducted on campaigns, restricting the ability to determine the effectiveness of such strategies in achieving outcomes or in their ability to reach the intended audience [114].

Mitchell et al [116] argue that PCH could benefit from brand development to ensure consistent messaging and ensure clients know what to ask and care providers know what to provide in terms of education. For example, the "Show Your Love"¹¹ campaign developed by CDC in 2013 is a model of such branding.

While awareness raising is an important and popular strategy, there is a growing call from organizations and researchers to move beyond communication campaigns [114]. A report by BSRC stated that: "we have moved beyond the need for generic campaigns that promote the importance of preconception health for women" [117]. Instead, the report highlights the need for additional services to strengthen PCH in Ontario, such as focusing on specific preconception risks and what individuals can do to improve their health before conception, such as taking folic acid, stopping substance use, adjusting medications, addressing pre-existing medical conditions, updating immunizations, and considering risks in home and workplace environments [117]. While there is a need for more public awareness of PCH in Ontario, addressing common gaps as described above and evaluating existing campaigns to assess their effectiveness should be considered before future implementation.



Reproductive life plans

Increasing awareness about reproductive life plans (RLP) is identified in the literature as an important and effective strategy [12,115]. A RLP is a tool that can be used by individuals to assist in developing personal goals as to whether (or not), when and how to have children [118]. RLPs are also strongly supported by the CDC [17] and can be used by HCPs as a communication tool regarding contraception and PCH care with clients [119]. A Swedish randomized control trial found that RLPs were an effective tool in promoting reproductive health among women [120]. Ultimately, RLPs should be initiated in the early reproductive health years for the greatest impact. However, given the growing rate of advanced maternal and paternal age in Canada, a RLP may also be utilized to increase awareness of the implications of delaying childbearing. Plans have also been tailored to specific high-risk populations, such as youth and marginalized women [121], and research has shown that they are useful in a range of settings (e.g., community, clinical care, schools). There is growing interest in using a RLP as a tool for promoting PCH in Ontario. As a result, BSRC collaborated with several Ontario Public Health Units to develop and release a RLP for youth [122].



Preconception health care integration

HCPs are in a unique and trusted position to deliver PCH messages. Interestingly, two Ontario surveys of individuals of reproductive age clearly identified HCPs as the most effective and preferred source of preconception information [117,220]. Clinical care settings provide a promising context for PCH service delivery. In Canada, 83% of women and 70% of men ages 18-64 years reported consultation with their physician annually [123]. Integrating PCH care into every contact between a HCP and an individual of reproductive age is well supported in the research [3,4,113,115,124]. Such an approach argues that PCH should be a process and integrated into on-going dialogue between the HCP and client, and not a single purposeful visit. Integrating preconception assessment, intervention and education into every clinical contact enables both planners and non-planners to be reached. This approach has led to the "Every Woman, Every Time" campaign¹² in the United States, however such models depend heavily on the motivation and knowledge of the HCP to focus on PCH issues. The annual physical and Pap test may be considered opportune times to provide PCH care, however in Ontario annual physicals are no longer recommended and guidelines regarding Pap tests have changed to every three years. This change could be construed as a barrier to providing PCH care, however if PCH care is to be integrated into every contact, as the evidence suggests, the current model may simply prove as an opportunity to realign our thinking and shift it to explore other avenues for integration such as utilization of specific tools.

12. http://www.everywomancalifornia.org/content_display.cfm?contentID=359&categoriesID=120&CFID=33569

The National Preconception/Interconception Care Clinical Toolkit [125], designed as a "one stop" resource for HCPs, is an example of such a tool. Posing one simple question "Are you hoping to become pregnant in the next year?" [125,219] will help to individualize further assessment, intervention and health promotion messaging to best meet the overall and reproductive health needs of clients. In order to be more inclusive, this question could be modified to "Would you like to have a child in the next one to two years?" Taylor and James [126] note that, "preconception counselling should not be limited to only a discussion of ways to optimize pregnancy outcome and prevent unintended pregnancy, but also provide a way to address other preventive health concerns".

Based on the recommendation for integrating PCH interventions into every HCP contact with women of reproductive age, the World Health Organization [13] identified the following evidence-based interventions:

- Prevention of pregnancy in adolescence;
- Prevention of unintended pregnancies;
- Promotion of birth spacing;
- Optimizing pre-pregnancy weight;
- Promotion of healthy nutrition including supplementation/food fortification, such as folic acid intake;
- Promotion of vaccination of children and adolescents.

Furthermore, services for women with special risk factors that increase the risk for preterm birth include:

- Screening for, diagnosis and management of mental health disorders and prevention of intimate partner violence;
- Prevention and treatment of sexually transmitted infections (STIs), including HIV/AIDS;
- Promotion of tobacco use cessation and restriction of exposure to second hand smoke;
- Screening for, diagnosis and management of chronic diseases, including diabetes and hypertension [13].

As more research becomes available on paternal factors and their links to birth and child health outcomes, preconception interventions for men of reproductive age will need to be developed.

Currently in Canada, a PCH care screening tool has not yet been developed; however, in Ontario an opportunity to develop such a resource is currently being explored by the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (MOHTLC). Ideally a PCH specific tool would be most beneficial; however, if a specific PCH tool does not become a reality in Ontario, it may be worthwhile to explore other preventive health care checklists that include PCH content. The Greig Health Record (for children and adolescents aged 6 – 17 years) and Preventive Care Checklist Form[©] (for adults) are both validated, easy-to-use, and evidence-based tools that are endorsed by the College of Family Physicians of Canada [127,128]. Although these tools are currently available for use by HCPs in Ontario, it is not known to what extent they are put into practice. While these tools are not PCH specific, they do incorporate many preconception health topics, such as substance use, folic acid supplementation, and STI screening. Furthermore, an implementation process, which meets billing requirements [129], already exists for both tools. Expansion to include integration of an opening question as previously discussed and shifting the current focus to include a PCH context may be a worthwhile consideration.

SHIFT | Enhancing the Health of Ontarians

HCPs are a trusted source for providing health education over time. They have the opportunity to share information during the interconception period to impact future pregnancies and chronic disease prevention later in life. Recognizing this, the CDC Select Panel [17] outlined the importance of interconception counselling as a strategy to help individuals reflect on a previous pregnancy and birth outcome and to address risk factors before a subsequent pregnancy. For example, discussing postpartum weight loss may also be an opportunity for healthy weight, exercise and nutrition counselling. It is therefore imperative to empower midwives, obstetricians, physicians, nurses, dietitians and other allied health professionals as appropriate to provide evidence-based interventions to women and families during the interconception period, particularly those who have had a previous adverse pregnancy outcome (e.g., low birth weight). Starting risk assessments and interventions early in the postpartum period can be an effective and efficient way to deliver care given the intensity and routine of postpartum follow-up with HCPs. Recognizing this, the American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, District IX and the March of Dimes developed the Interconception Care Project for California, with an aim "to improve and promote the interconception health of women by maximizing care provided during the postpartum visit" [130]. As part of the project, 21 algorithms were developed to guide risk assessment, management and counseling during the postpartum and interconception periods.

Currently in Ontario an interconception specific screening tool does not exist. However, the Ontario Antenatal Record¹³ (OAR) is a routine follow-up tool that guides Ontario physicians and midwives in their care through both the prenatal and postpartum periods. Some interconception content is covered in the postnatal visit section, such as birth outcomes, Rubella immunization and tobacco use. The tool also encourages HCPs to address emotional challenges, folic acid, contraception, relationship concerns, social support, family violence, and advice regarding future pregnancies and risks. While the current OAR form contains limited interconception messaging, an opportunity to enhance the tool with a PCH lens may be worth exploring.

Health care provider outreach

Despite HCPs being the preferred and trusted source of information [117,220], there is no standardized preconception care education program for physicians, nurses or allied health professionals in Ontario. In the United States, PCH education modules have been developed for nurses [131], physicians and midwives [125]. Training related to preconception care is critical to ensure providers have the knowledge and resources to deliver evidence-based interventions and messages. Lack of training and time are frequently cited as barriers to physicians providing preconception care [113,132]. A 2009 Best Start survey found that 97% of HCPs agreed that preconception care is important, but only 78% indicated that they provided preconception care on a daily or weekly basis, only 64% provided PCH check-ups and 25% displayed educational information [216]. The survey also found that physicians were more likely to provide preconception care to women than men and, the



13. https://ocfp.on.ca/docs/default-source

authors concluded that physicians may be missing key opportunities to provide preconception care [216]. It is important to note that currently there is no direct reimbursement for integrating PCH into all contacts with clients of reproductive age in Ontario. Whether to establish a billing code for such interactions or to tackle compensation in other ways, such as modifying the existing Greig Health Record and Preventive Care Checklist Form[©] to integrate more PCH messaging, should be explored with the HCP community.

Specific preconception care clinics have been established in Europe and in the United States as a strategy to overcome provider time and training barriers. However, such models will only reach those motivated to plan a pregnancy. Providing outreach to all HCPs will help to integrate PCH messages at every health and wellness visit [133]. Such an approach can allow physicians, nurses and other health professionals to play a role in risk screening, intervention and education [133]. The importance of both physicians and nurses in delivering PCH interventions and promoting messages is emphasized in the literature [115,133]. BSRC [117] notes that "HCP strategies should be considered in order to strengthen available preconception care services".

Innovation and technology

The use of health information technology as a tool presents new opportunities to improve and expand PCH strategies [13,134]. Recognizing this, the WHO [13] highlighted the need to "explore and document innovative ways to deliver preconception care outside the traditional maternal and child health programs". Such technology may help to overcome barriers experienced in delivering preconception care, such as provider time and knowledge, as well as increasing accessibility to client populations who primarily access health information online. In 2012, 84% of Ontarians aged 16 or over used the Internet for personal use from any location [135]. Fifty eight percent accessed the Internet via a wireless handheld device, such as a cell phone or tablet [135]. Canadians aged 16 to 24 were most likely to use a wireless handheld device to connect to the Internet [135]. Globally, there are 665 million daily active Facebook users and 200 million monthly active Twitter users [136]. These numbers are impressive and demonstrate the need to explore and invest in e-strategies.

Recognizing this trend, an online patient-centered program called the Gabby Preconception Care System has been developed in the United States [134]. The Gabby system helps to screen for and address preconception risks, assess readiness for behaviour change, and provide health education. While still in the development stage, early pilot data suggests users find the Gabby system useful, easy to use, reliable, and trustworthy [134]; however, further research is needed to determine effectiveness on promoting awareness and behaviour change.





While mobile device technology has not been extensively used to date in PCH, it has been successfully used in several innovative prenatal health promotion programs, such as Text4baby¹⁴, the M+B 2B app¹⁵, and the interactive Healthy Weight Gain During Pregnancy website¹⁶ and Twitter feed. Text4baby is a free program where subscribers receive timely text messages about pregnancy, baby care and parenting. Reminders of upcoming appointments can also be activated. This initiative was made possible through public and private partnerships. Text4baby is reaching women of low socio economic status and of those who enrolled over 39% were in their first trimester [137]. Users demonstrate increasing health knowledge and preparedness, improved appointment attendance and found the program assisted in facilitating interaction with HCPs and improving access to health services [137].

The M+B 2B app developed by Niagara Public Health is a free tool that incorporates credible, easy to use, evidence-based information beginning with tools for planning a pregnancy through to birth [217]. Some interconception content is also included. The app also complies with the Baby-Friendly Initiative guidelines. Although the app directs individuals to Niagara Region specific resources, as of May 2014, it had been downloaded in 112 countries.

The Institute of Medicine and the National Research Council launched an interactive website and social media campaign around healthy weights before, during and after pregnancy [96]. The website helps users calculate their BMI and encourages women to enter pregnancy with a healthy body weight. It also allows users to calculate the recommended amount of weight to gain in pregnancy based on their BMI and engage a virtual avatar in finding answers about healthy weight gain in pregnancy. In addition to more traditional print media strategies, the campaign also launched a Twitter discussion around weight gain and pregnancy. Further examination of these mobile strategies is important to see if they could be effective for disseminating PCH information.

While the evidence on PCH promotion and care delivery is limited, promising strategies are currently being utilized. It is important to note that the above discussion was not exhaustive and there are other strategies being used that were not discussed in this section, such as use of peer educators [133,138], and should be examined as more research is available. Although the need to shift the balance of attention from the prenatal period to preconception remains paramount, it is apparent that more research is needed to evaluate the effectiveness of the various strategies currently being utilized and to remain receptive to new innovations ahead. It is critical to ensure that strategies target diverse audiences, including women, men, adolescents, LGBTQ, and HCPs, and that access and equity issues be considered.

^{14.} https://text4baby.org/

^{15.} http://www.niagararegion.ca/living/health_wellness/pregnancy/baby_app.aspx

^{16.} http://resources.iom.edu/Pregnancy/WhatToGain.html#

<section-header>

There are several major gaps and challenges which hamper effective implementation of a PCH agenda in Ontario, including lack of consistent and ongoing data monitoring, limited research and evaluation, lack of political and public awareness, limited diversity of target audiences, and limited resources.

Data monitoring

One of the major challenges in discussing PCH is the lack of consistent use and ongoing monitoring of relevant public health indicators in Ontario and elsewhere. Public Health Ontario (PHO) acknowledges "the health of our population is dependent on the health of our … 'children', yet Ontario lacks a coordinated population health assessment and surveillance system to monitor our success" [139]. Recognizing this, the Association of Public Health Epidemiologists In Ontario (APHEO) Core Indicators Work Group, in collaboration with PHO, reviewed the availability of various public health indicators in Ontario, including those related to PCH [140]. Among the many gaps found, data and indicators related to PCH were significant. In 2012, the only provincial indicator available was folic acid supplementation. Although progress has happened in this area, when taking into consideration the expanse of factors encompassed by PCH, it quickly becomes evident that more data are required to inform and guide PCH planning and programming in Ontario. A number of indicators were identified as being in development or to be created in the near future, such as adult body mass index. However, many indicators, such as number of women in reproductive years, are still missing. Table 2 outlines data and indicators that would assist in data monitoring and evaluation related to PCH in Ontario.

The table illustrates that numerous data gaps exist and that the indicators and data being sought are focused on the woman. As previously discussed, PCH must encompass all individuals. Data gathering must extend beyond the female to also include broader sociodemographic indicators, such as race, income, gender identity, gender expression and sexual orientation. The value of comprehensive core indicators can be seen in the CDC report entitled "Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) Core State Preconception Health Indicators" [215].

Indicator gaps			
Indicators under development or under construction	Indicators not yet developed	Data gaps	
Adult Body Mass Index	Number of reproductive aged women who have a family physician	Use of fertility treatments among women of reproductive age	
Vegetable and Fruit Consumption	Ethnicity of reproductive aged women	Multi-vitamin intake (including folic acid) among women of reproductive age	
Self-Perceived Life Stress	Number of reproductive aged women	Alcohol/drug use	
Heavy Drinking Episodes	Geographic distribution of reproductive aged women	Awareness of community services	
Leisure-Time Physical Activity	Sexually transmitted infection rates among women of reproductive age	Environmental toxins exposure	
Self-Perceived Work Stress	Alcohol consumption among women of reproductive age	Family violence	
Smoking Status	Oral health	History, screening, testing	
Smoke-free Homes	ke-free Homes		
		Physical activity	
Non-Smoker Second-hand Smoke Exposure	Maternal boolth conditions	Preparation for breastfeeding	
Number of Sexual Partners	Maternal health conditions	Primary care provider of pregnant women	
		Work and home environment	
		Transition of parenthood	

Research and evaluation

In addition to data and indicator gaps, there are also significant gaps in the area of PCH research and evaluation. The CDC's Select Panel highlighted the need to "increase the evidence-base for preconception health and promote use of evidence in delivering preconception health" [17]. While increased research has been published over the last eight years, limited information on general PCH and effective interventions still remains, particularly regarding those that are community-based and from a health promotion perspective as highlighted in the previous section [17,113,142]. As previously mentioned, more economic evaluations identifying cost-effective interventions and implementation strategies are needed in PCH. Furthermore, the majority of research and evaluation currently available has been conducted outside of Canada. As momentum grows in Ontario, it will be important for initiatives implemented on local or provincial levels to be evaluated and documented to ensure the evidence-base continues to expand and reflect the needs and realities of Canadian PCH work.

Another significant research and programming gap is the predominant focus on individual level interventions. To date, most PCH programming and research has taken a behavioural approach, focusing on changes at an individual level. There is a need to shift the focus from an individual's responsibility for PCH to

a broader socio-environmental approach whereby responsibility also lies on community and system levels. Additional research and intervention development driven from this lens would help to gain a greater understanding of how to affect change from community and system levels and provide an opportunity to explore the PCH impact of various important social determinants of health, such as race, income, social connectedness, employment and air quality. Women in Canada experience more adverse social determinants of health than men [143], which can contribute to poor birth outcomes, such as preterm birth and birth weight [17]. Furthermore, Shannon et al [113] note that evidence-based strategies for reaching particular groups, such as women with unplanned pregnancies, remain a "conceptual challenge".

Political and public awareness

With gaps in data and research, it is not surprising that there is also a lack of political and public awareness regarding PCH. Political awareness and support is necessary to shift the reproductive health continuum to include PCH. While there has been growing awareness of PCH in recent provincial reports, there is limited political support for PCH in Ontario. While reproductive health is prominently represented on both the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care and Ministry of Children and Youth Services websites and resources, information on PCH is lacking. Shifting the messaging to health before pregnancy would be beneficial.

While research has shown that women of reproductive age are aware of the importance of improving their health before pregnancy, gaps have been identified in knowledge related to specific modifiable risk factors and strategies to overcome them [14,144,145]. Furthermore, Ontario specific data from the BSRC [117] survey of women and men in reproductive years revealed gaps in understanding about a man's health and contribution to the health of a pregnancy and baby. This is not surprising given that most health strategies to date have primarily targeted women. While identifying and reducing maternal risk factors before pregnancy is critical, paternal risk factors also exist and can be addressed through primary and secondary prevention efforts. In fact, WHO [13] recommends that boys and men should be encouraged to become active partners in preconception care. Despite this recognition, there are few initiatives that target or include men, and specific risk assessment, screening and education interventions for HCPs to use with male clients are missing. Including men of reproductive age in preconception initiatives is critical to truly enhance pregnancy outcomes.

Target audience diversity

Men are not the only group who require more focused attention; initiatives to date have rarely been tailored to LGBTQ communities. In particular, there appears to be no published studies examining "the satisfaction of Canadian lesbian and bisexual women with health and social services related to preconception and the perinatal period" [110]. LGBTQ populations seeking insemination, pregnancy and parenting services may have different needs from heterosexual populations. Part of the challenge in designing accessible and inclusive PCH promotion and clinical care services is the lack of research and data on LGBTQ reproductive health issues more generally. Rainbow Health Ontario (RHO) notes that Canadian researchers interested in studying LGBTQ health issues are faced with a number of challenges ranging from limited funding and methodological issues [147]. Furthermore, recruitment of LGBTQ individuals can be challenging due to discomfort in disclosing their sexual orientation or gender identity leading to many studies with small sample sizes. It is also worthwhile to note that lesbians experience increased rates of smoking, alcohol use and obesity, yet demonstrate lower rates of accessing health care services [110]. Concern with discrimination and lack of cultural competency may influence the extent to which lesbian and bisexual mothers access interconception care [110]. To help address this issue, the Association of

Ontario Midwives has developed tip sheets in providing care to lesbian, bisexual, and queer women [148] and for trans men and all "trans masculine spectrum" clients [149]. Developing strategies that specifically target diverse groups will help to shift and normalize the discussion of PCH and overall reproductive health fostering informed decision making and reproductive life planning among all individuals.

Resources

Finally, the current Public Health systems structure, funding and human resources to support PCH initiatives have also hindered implementation. While PCH is mandated in the Ontario Public Health Standards [9] under the Reproductive Health component of the Family Health Program standards, these standards are not specific and local health units must prioritize PCH programming and allocate resources accordingly. In addition, the information on PCH within the Reproductive Health Guidance document is limited [34]. Given the breadth and scope of Family Health programming in Ontario, PCH initiatives must compete for limited resources. Without strong advocates who can champion the importance of local PCH programming, staffing and resource allotments to PCH may be lacking.

As previously highlighted, ensuring that health professionals have the training to develop and deliver PCH initiatives is critical and often a barrier. This extends not just to public health settings but also primary care. For clinical settings, the lack of OHIP billing codes may be a barrier to providing PCH assessment and intervention at every clinical contact with individuals of reproductive age. Shifting priorities to ensure that PCH also receives adequate financial and human resources will be essential effective ensuring and consistent implementation. to Furthermore, ensuring effective collaboration between public and primary health care will be essential in implementing PCH initiatives, an ongoing struggle of the health care systems [150].

PCH is often a missed starting point when conceptualizing reproductive health programming on an operation and systems level. Within the "Public Health Sector Strategic Plan Framework" [151], it is stated that a life course approach is needed. The need for improvement of maternal, child and youth and senior's health is highlighted within the framework, however PCH is absent. To meet the strategic plan's mission to "protect and promote the health of all people in Ontario through the delivery of quality public health programs and services, effective partnerships, and a focus on health equity" a shift in focus to PCH is needed to truly fulfill the recognition of the need for a life course approach [151].



SHIFTING INTO ACTION



In ensuring optimal health for Ontarians, it is essential to broaden the scope of reproductive health practices to include PCH. The PCH platform itself must also be broadened. To truly be effective, PCH must encompass the following guiding principles:

- Preconception health is an important time to promote and protect healthy fertility and focus on reduction of risks, promotion of healthy lifestyles and increasing readiness for pregnancy, whether or not individuals plan to have children one day.
- To fully support reproductive health, attention must be shifted to the preconception period, including interconception.
- PCH must be a universal approach and encompass both health promotion and health care strategies.
- PCH includes all individuals of reproductive age, regardless of gender identity, gender expression or sexual orientation.
- PCH promotion and care includes individuals of reproductive age both planning and not planning to have children one day.
- Supporting efforts to enhance PCH will have an effect on lifelong health.
- A comprehensive approach to PCH is necessary; including advocacy, awareness raising, skills development, reorientation of health services and policy development strategies delivered at the individual, community and population levels.
- A multi-sectoral, interdisciplinary approach which is collaborative is necessary to achieve momentum in the area of PCH.
- Enhancement and building upon existing structures and initiatives is preferred.

To ensure a comprehensive approach to mobilizing this shift the following key actions must be activated: interdisciplinary collaboration, integration, innovation, and inquiry.

Interdisciplinary collaboration

Collaboration across a range of sectors is needed to enhance and support the duality of PCH – health promotion and its clinical component [15]. It is recognized that diverse partnerships are required to affect overall change since "health is bigger than health care, so the public health sector's efforts to promote health must be bigger than the health sector" [152]. Motivating and inviting leaders and practitioners from various fields will enhance the momentum currently being seen in small pockets across the province. Although it is acknowledged that HCPs play a significant role in providing preconception care [5,12,17,115,

153], broadening collaborative partnerships will bring a new richness to the conversation. Examining effective strategies to develop and support collaboration between public and primary care will be essential [150]. In supporting dialogue amongst varied disciplines and levels, action to reduce the significant gaps in data monitoring, research and evaluation will be achieved. This broadened approach will also support the universality of PCH.

Collaborative partnerships could include, but certainly are not limited to:

- HCPs and their respective governing bodies and associations, such as physicians, nurse practitioners, midwives, nurses, pharmacists, dietitians, and physiotherapists;
- Government, such as Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, Ministry of Children and Youth Services, and Ministry of Education;
- Research and best practice affiliates, such as Better Outcomes Registry and Network (BORN), APHEO, Public Health Ontario, and Registered Nurses Association of Ontario;
- Non-profit agencies, such as Health Nexus, the Lung Association, Heart and Stroke Foundation and Canadian Diabetes Association, Active Healthy Kids Canada, and ParticipACTION;
- Networks attentive to improving family health, such as HC Link;
- The private sector, such as media based businesses.

Ensuring partners apply an access and equity lens to actions will be critical to protecting the universality and accessibility of PCH. Exploring meaningful ways to engage the public in this process may further strengthen this approach.

To support a collaborative approach, we recommend convening an intersectoral, interdisciplinary provincial committee to lead the coordination of PCH efforts and innovation across the province. In recognition of the vast scope of PCH, it would be recommended to parcel the tasks of the provincial committee similar to that of the CDC Preconception Health and Health Care Steering Committee. The coordinating body may wish to address:

- The development of a provincial PCH platform where clear guidelines are set and consistent definitions are developed;
- The development of policies supportive of moving the PCH agenda forward including examining financial and resource opportunities as well as the ability to repurpose current funding;
- The development of recommendations directing ongoing research to address gaps highlighted earlier in this report as well as assembly of evidence-informed literature, tracking of current trends and emerging issues in a centralized location;
- The unique needs of primary HCPs and other regulated health professionals as it relates to PCH;
- Public health coordination at the population health level. Providing guidance to Ontario's 36 health departments to meet each community's unique needs;
- Reaching out to Ontario Early Years Centres, schools and additional neighbourhood hubs;
- The need for institutional change by advocating for measures to address the social determinants of health, including access to affordable housing, income supports including nutritional subsidies for women and families, and increased access to higher education. This approach will complement the individual level focus of current PCH programming and yield further health benefits across the lifespan, as well as improve maternal and infant outcomes.
Integration

PCH has a broad footprint. With the establishment of a centralized coordinating body, a comprehensive approach to PCH will set the stage for a more integrated approach to PCH. It is important to expand recommendations to encompass all individuals of reproductive age, including all gender identities, gender expressions and sexual orientations, and all those planning and not planning a pregnancy. Integrating diverse preconception voices into programming, reports, policies and systems is key. Developing and delivering PCH public awareness and education campaigns that target all individuals of reproductive age in Ontario would help to address the gaps cited earlier. While some campaigns have locally been developed and delivered in Ontario, a large coordinated campaign would help promote consistent messaging and ensure brand development. An example of this could involve expanding the "What's Your Plan?" campaign by Toronto Public Health into a provincial e-resource highlighting the services unique to each community within Ontario. Captions such as "What's Your Plan Thunder Bay?" or "What's Your Plan Region of Waterloo?" would help to direct individuals to their local services. The "What's Your Plan?" campaign has generated interest from other Ontario health units as well as the BSRC, indicating that there may be receptivity to moving this campaign to a more comprehensive approach.

However, education and awareness raising is only a single component of a comprehensive approach. Incorporation of a wide variety of health promotion strategies must be realized. These strategies may include, but not limited to, skills development, creating supportive environments, realignment of health care services and establishing policies in support of affecting a shift at all levels.

Realignment of services is addressed by the Healthy Kids Panel [32] where it is recommended to "include a standard pre-pregnancy health check and wellness visit for women planning a pregnancy and their partners". The effectiveness of this approach is hindered by the need for the individual to anticipate or have the intention of becoming pregnant and realizing the benefit of seeking health care prior to pregnancy. Given the large proportion of the population who do not plan a pregnancy, a call for integration of preconception principals into wellness visits is recommended. By "promoting wellness at every visit, providers maximize the opportunity to impact the health and wellbeing" of individuals "and potentially ensuring a higher level of wellness for those who are planning a pregnancy, as well as those who find themselves with an unintended pregnancy" [154].



To fully support this shift in health care a number of parameters must be mobilized.

- 1. Standardized education needs to be developed, supported and integrated into health related curriculums for health professional students as well as on-going training promoted with practicing HCPs.
- Preconception/interconception health key messages and action steps need to be integrated into electronic documentation utilized by HCPs within the clinic, hospital, community and home settings. Consideration must go beyond settings where interactions with the physician/nurse practitioner/midwife occur and include settings where programs, such as HBHC and CPNP, take place.
- 3. Policy supporting full integration within the primary care domain such as considering the usefulness of a PCH billing code, incentives built into code bonuses, or integration into existing tools to address funding challenges. Policy alleviating time constraints may also be of benefit.
- 4. Development of provincial tools to support health care professionals; both for the health care professional and for the public. Useful tools that could be utilized:
 - a. A Reproductive Life Plan that incorporates the life course perspective into PCH. As previously noted, the BSRC lead the development of such a tool for the youth population. A similar tool reflective of adult population needs would be a valuable compliment.
 - b. A revision to the comprehensive BSRC "Health Before Pregnancy" website intended for public use.
 - c. Consistent PCH key messages. BSRC currently is leading an initiative to create prenatal education key messages for service providers which will include PCH.
 - d. Explore developing a PCH specific screening tool or revise existing screening tools currently in use such as the Greig Health Record, PCC and OAR to incorporate a PCH/interconception lens.
 - e. Creation of a HCP toolkit to assist with the incorporation of preconception health into practice.

Adoption of such tools on a provincial level would assist to solidify a united provincial approach and integration of these tools into health care services, community programs and education systems would promote consistent messaging.

Although not examined in detail in this report, consideration of how to engage the education system and integrate PCH messages within the elementary, secondary and post secondary education systems warrants attention.

Innovation

It has been demonstrated that although momentum is gaining in the area of PCH, the possible benefits that could be gained from this shift in focus have not been realized. A new approach is needed: one that explores new ways to work with partners and engage the public in an effort to build bridges and support a continuum of care. WHO [13] identified the need to explore innovative ways to deliver PCH programming. The growth of social media and use of the Internet to access health information underscores the need for program planners and decision makers to invest in e-strategies. However, the health field in general has been slow to harness the power and reach of social media [136]. Exploring prenatal health e-practices, such as the previously discussed Text4Baby and M+B 2B app, may provide insight on potential innovative solutions for PCH. Furthermore, an Ontario specific texting program which meets the needs of individuals,

reflective of their stage of life, could act as a reminder of general healthy lifestyle practices, a review of their reproductive life plan as well as linkages to their community for support as needed. Partnerships with key stakeholders and integration of key messages that resonate at various stages could lead to the development of a valuable tool for the public.

Innovative constructs are also needed for service providers delivering PCH programming. The most common barrier verbalized by HCPs in BSRC's 2009 survey was "My patients do not discuss pregnancy planning with me". Time was an additional barrier. The challenge becomes providing PCH messages in a seamless, efficient manner that automatically engages and does not wait for the public to request it. E-health documentation tools integrated directly into all patient contacts may address this challenge. Such an approach would not only ease adoption of PCH care, it would also enhance data gathering and in turn provide insight into needs for further research. Dubey et al. [129] and Shojania et al. [155] identified that utilization of creative tools and health information technology such as electronic reminders to deliver preventive care services can support improved care. A system that electronically identifies an individual's age within the preconception period can also prompt the provider to ask a few simple screening questions, such as "Do you plan to have a child in the next 1 - 2 years?".

Although not specifically a PCH e-tool, one project currently underway employing the potential advantages of electronic documentation is a partnership between BORN Ontario and eHealth Ontario in the integration of the OAR prenatal best-practice clinical guidelines into Electronic Medical Record (EMR) systems [156]. It is believed that integration of these guidelines into EMRs could "enhance a number of care practices including diabetes screening ... and lifestyle counselling". Although the OAR is primarily prenatally focused, a shift to enhancing the postnatal visit and discussion topics sections in the OAR 2 would appear to be a good fit for the current work underway and benefit women during the interconception period. Furthermore, exploring the inclusion of more interconception topics specifically would also be an opportunity to further support positive reproductive health outcomes.

Innovation is also needed to develop more effective strategies for promoting and facilitating access to folic acid supplement prior to pregnancy. As noted in the Neural Tube Defects and Folic Acid Supplementation section, two thirds of NTDs could be prevented if women adhered to folic acid consumption guidelines. However, accessing or following through on recommendations may be a challenge or barrier for some women, particularly those with disabilities, low education, and those from low socio-economic status. Dietitians of Canada developed a call for universal access to supplements [157]. An innovative solution is needed to ensure accessibility for all.

Inquiry

Promoting PCH and developing a comprehensive system, necessitates acknowledgement of the significant gaps in data and the lack of research in the area. As discussed in the Gaps and Challenges section, the lack of information in this area demands a shift in focus to targeted, timely and systematic data gathering, monitoring, research and evaluation. Harnessing current opportunities within existing structures such as PHO's Locally Driven Collaborative Projects, as well as engaging academia, and utilizing and encouraging coordination between existing relevant data bases is strongly recommended. Furthermore, consideration of additional indicators for development, not highlighted in APHEO's list of gaps found in table 2, is advised. Indicators such as mental health status of women in their reproductive years, immunization status and pregnancy intendedness may prove to be beneficial. As well, inclusion of indicators and data reflective of all individuals, beyond women only, would provide a more comprehensive picture of the current state of PCH. Where APHEO currently identifies indicators for "women in their reproductive

years", this could be expanded to all individuals of reproductive age regardless of gender identity, gender expression or sexual orientation.

PHO [139] acknowledges that the province lacks a coordinated system to monitor health as it pertains to infants, children and youth. PHO [139] identifies 10 recommendations pertaining to the measurement of health in Ontario children ages birth to 19, as outlined in table 3. The recommendations in this comprehensive report aim to address indicator gaps and develop an approach for ongoing population health assessment and surveillance.

1. Report on available indicators	6. Evaluate indicators outside of OPHS
2. Expand core indicators	7. Identify indicators for measuring health disparities
3. Enhance data sources	8. Determine indicator subsets
4. Address major OPHS indicator gaps	9. Renew and revisit indicators
5. Assess minor OPHS indicator gaps	10. Advance a coordinated system

Table 3: Recommendations for Health Measurement of Children in Ontario [139]

The above recommendation categories are broad and could be easily adapted as a guideline in addressing the inadequacies in core indicators and data for PCH. Furthermore, completion of a comprehensive report similar to PHO measurement of child health for PCH would aid in further understanding the needs in this area.

The province would benefit in playing a leadership role to facilitate the development of a comprehensive PCH core indicator system and engage/consult a variety of stakeholders to ensure the system is relevant and useful. Examining the experiences of CDC in developing their indicator system is recommended.

Lastly, establishing a provincial repository where information on PCH data, programming and best practices is more accessible is crucial. Provincial data reported by regions will aid service providers in creating targeted local strategies and will enable ongoing surveillance and monitoring of data and trends. Specific data will also assist in advocating for new initiative supports. The creation of a database detailing PCH strategies, and on-going research and statistics will support practitioner decision making regarding which services and supports will best meet their local community needs as well as provincial needs.

//Recommendations//

- 1. Establish an intersectoral, interdisciplinary provincial coordinating committee to lead PCH efforts and innovation in Ontario.
- 2. Engage a diversity of partners extending beyond the health sector, including research and best practice affiliates, non-profit and private sector stakeholders, to address the universality of PCH.
- 3. Ensure PCH concepts and principles are integrated into current systems, including public health, primary care and education.
- 4. Support the realignment of health services to support all individuals of reproductive age whether or not planning a pregnancy.
- 5. Develop policies and tools to support integration into existing services.
- 6. Invest in e-strategies to support seamless integration of PCH parameters into delivery of care and which in turn support data gathering and research.
- 7. Move beyond traditional modes of communication and service delivery and harness the power and reach of social media.
- 8. Complete a comprehensive assessment of PCH indicators, including existing gaps, and explore ways to integrate these indicators into current assessment and surveillance systems.
- 9. Create an accessible repository to house information on PCH research, programming and best practices in Ontario.
- 10. Submit a Locally Driven Collaborative Project to gain further insight into PCH needs.

//References//

- 1. World Health Organization. Preconception care: maximizing the gains for maternal and child health [pamphlet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.
- Alberta Perinatal Health Program. [Internet]. Edmonton (AB): Alberta Perinatal Health Program c2014. Preconception health framework; 2007 Apr [cited 2014 Jul 25]; [about 4 screens]. Available from http://www.aphp.ca/pdf/Preconception%20Report%20proof%2004.26.07.pdf
- Atrash HK, Johnson K, Adams M, Cordero JF, Howse J. Preconception care for improving perinatal outcomes: the time to act. Matern Child Health J. 2006;10(S1):S3-S11.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Preconception health and health care. [Internet]. Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; [updated 2013 May 13]. Information for health professionals; [updated 2013 Jul 8; cited 2014 Jul 25]; [about 3 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/preconception/hcp/index.html</u>
- 5. Chandranipapongse W, Koren G. Preconception counseling for preventable risks. Canadian Family Physician. 2013 Jul; 59(7):737-739.
- 6. Frey K, Navarro S, Kotelchuck M, Lu M. The clinical content of preconception care: preconception care for men. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2008;199(6):S389-95.
- 7. Salihu H, Salinas A, Mogos M. The missing link in preconception care: the role of comparative effectiveness research. Maternal and Child Health Journal. 2013;17(5), 776-782.
- 8. Grosse S, Sotnikov SV, Leatherman S, Curtis M. The business case for preconception care: methods and issues. Maternal Child Health Journal. 2006;10(1);93-99.
- Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-term Care. Ontario Public Health Standards 2008 [standard online]. c2008 [revised 2014 May 1; cited 2014 Jul 25]. Available from http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/docs/ophs_2008.pdf
- Bialystok L, Poole N, Greaves L. Preconception care: call for national guidelines. Can Fam Physician. 2013 Oct;59(10):1037-1039.
- Filner LB, Zolna MR. Unintended pregnancy in the United States: incidence and disparities, 2006. Contraception. 2011 Jul 28;84(5):478-485.
- 12. Moos MK, Dunlop AL, Jack BW, Nelson L, Coonrod DV, Long R, et al. Healthier women, healthier reproductive outcomes: recommendations for the routine care of all women of reproductive age. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2008;199(6 Suppl 2):S280-S289.
- 13. World Health Organization. Meeting to develop a global census on preconception care to reduce maternal and childhood mortality and morbidity. Geneva (CH); 2013. 77 p. Report No.: ISBN 978 92 4 150500 0.
- 14. Best Start: Ontario's Maternal, Newborn and Early Child Development Resource Centre. Preconception health: public health initiatives in Ontario. Toronto (ON): Best Start, Health Nexus Santé; 2009. 28 p.
- 15. World Health Organization. Born too soon: the global action report on preterm birth 2012. Geneva (CH): World Health Organization; 2012. 126 p. Report No.: ISBN 978 92 4 150343 3.
- 16. Freda MC, Moos MK, Curtis M. The history of preconception care: evolving guidelines and standards. Matern Child Health J. 2006 Sept;10(Suppl 1);43–52.
- 17. Johnson K, Posner S, Biermann J, Cordero JF, Atrash H, Parker C, et al. Recommendations to improve preconception health and health care—United States. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR). 2006;55(RR06):1-23.
- 18. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Action plan for the national initiative on preconception health and health care (PCHHC). Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2014. 38 p.
- American journal of health promotion [Internet]. Troy (MI): American Journal of Health Promotion; c2011. Volume 27, issue sp3 (January/February 2013); 2013 Jan [cited 2014 Sept 20]; [about 3 screens]. Available from <u>http://ajhpcontents.org/toc/hepr/27/sp3</u>
- American journal of obstetricians and gynecology [Internet]. Philadelphia (PA): Elsevier Inc; c2014. Volume 199, issue 6, supplement B, S257-S396; 2008 Dec [cited 2014 Sept 23]; [about 3 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.ajog.org/issue/S0002-9378%2808%29X0011-0</u>
- 21. MOTHERISK treating the mother protecting the unborn [Internet]. Toronto (ON): The Hospital for Sick Children; c1999-2013. MOTHERISK - treating the mother - protecting the unborn; No Date [cited 2014 Sept 23]; [Homepage]. Available from http://www.motherisk.org/prof/index.jsp
- 22. Global Mother Child Research [Internet]. London (UK): The Global Health Network; c2009-2014. Systematic review of preconception risks and interventions; 2013 Aug [cited 2014 Jul 23]; [about 3 screens]. Available from https://globalmotherchildresearch.tghn.org/articles/systematic-review-preconception-risks-and-interventions/
- 23. Singh S, Sedgh G, Hussain R. Unintended pregnancy: worldwide levels, trends, and outcomes. Studies in Family Planning. 2010; 41(4): 241-250.
- 24. Wise PH. Transforming preconceptional, prenatal, and interconceptional care into a comprehensive commitment to women's health. Womens Health Issues. 2008;18(6 Suppl): \$13–\$18.
- 25. Kerber KJ, de Graft-Johnson JE, Bhutta ZA, Okong P, Starrs A, Lawn JE. Continuum of care for maternal, newborn, and child health: from slogan to service delivery. The Lancet. 2007 Oct;370 (9595);1358-69.

- 26. Carson G, Cox LV, Crane J, Croteau P, Graves L, Kluka S, et al. Alcohol use and pregnancy consensus clinical guidelines. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2010 Aug;32(8):S1-S31.
- 27. Davies GA, Maxwell C, McLeod L, Gagnon R, Basso M, Bos H, et al. Obesity in pregnancy. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2010;32(2):165-73.
- 28. Magee L, Pels A, Helewa M, Rey E, von Dadelszen P. Diagnosis, evaluation and management of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2014;307:416-438.
- 29. Martel MJ, Arsenault MY, Dontigny L. Rubella in pregnancy. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2008;30(2):152–158.
- 30. Allen V, Armson BA. Teratogenicity associated with pre-existing and gestational diabetes. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2007;200:927-934.
- 31. The Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada. Healthy beginnings: giving your baby the best start from preconception to birth. 4th ed. Toronto (ON): John Wiley & Sons;2009.
- 32. Government of Ontario (Healthy Kids Panel). No time to wait: the healthy kids strategy. Catalogue No. 017308. Ottawa (ON): Minister of Health and Long-Term Care; 2013 Feb. 66 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-1-4606-1014-5.
- 33. Best Start: Ontario's Maternal, Newborn and Early Child Development Resource Centre. Obesity in preconception and pregnancy. Toronto (ON): Best Start, Health Nexus Santé; 2013. 64 p.
- 34. Standards, Programs & Community Development Branch Ministry of Health Promotion. Reproductive health guidance document. Ottawa ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2010. 71 p. Report No.: ISBN: 978-1-4435-2908-2.
- 35. Archived Summative Evaluation of the Canada Prenatal Nutrition Program 2004-2009 [Internet]. Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada; c2014. Key findings; 2010 Oct [cited 2014 Sept 10]; [about 4 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/about_apropos/evaluation/reports-rapports/2009-2010/cpnp-pcnp/index-eng.php</u>
- 36. Ohlsson A, Shah P. Determinants and prevention of low birth weight: a synopsis of the evidence. Edmonton, AB: IHE Publications; 2008. 274 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-1-897443-41-5.
- Green NS, Damus K, Simpson JL, Iams J, Reece A, Hobel CJ, et al. (March of Dimes Scientific Advisory Committee on Prematurity). Research agenda for preterm birth: Recommendations from the march of dimes. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2005 Sep;193(3 Pt 1):626-635.
- 38. Okun N, Sierra S. Pregnancy outcomes after assisted human reproduction. Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada. 2014, Jan;302;65-83.
- 39. Ontario College of Family Physicians. Improving the odds: healthy child development focus on the early years: neuroscience and implications for clinical practice (6th edition). Toronto (ON): Ontario College of Family Physicians; 2010. 51 p.
- 40. Yi Y, Lindermann M, Coligs A, Snowball C. Economic burden of neural tube defects and impact of prevention with folic acid: a literature review. Eur J Pediatr. 2011;170(11);1391–1400.
- 41. Herman W, Janz N, Becker M, Charron-Prochownik D. Diabetes and pregnancy preconception care, pregnancy outcomes, resource utilization and costs. Journal of Reproductive Medicine. 1999;44;33-38.
- 42. Canadian Public Health Association. Leading together: Canada takes action on HIV/AIDS (2005-2010). Ottawa (ON): Canadian HIV/AIDS Information Centre; 2005. 58 p. Report No.: ISBN 1-894324-33-1.
- 43. Kingston-Riechers J. The economic cost of HIV/AIDS in Canada. Ottawa, ON: Canadian AIDS Society; 2011. 17 p. Report No.: ISBN 0-921906-81-1.
- 44. Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health. Preconception health: what's happening in public health? Guelph (ON): Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health; 2014.
- 45. Association of Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario [Internet]. Ontario: Association of Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario; c2014. 6B preterm birth rate; 2013 Jan 16 [cited 2014 Jun 25]; [about 3 screens]. Available from http://www.apheo.ca/index.php?pid=140
- 46. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Highlights of 2010-2011 selected indicators describing the birthing process in Canada. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Institute of Health Information; 2012 Jun. 21 p.
- 47. Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). Canadian perinatal health report: 2008 edition. Ottawa(ON): PHAC; 2008. 335 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-0-662-47237-7.
- Association of Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario [Internet]. Ontario: Association of Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario; c2014. 6B birth weights; 2014 Jan 16 [cited 2014 Jun 25]; [about 3 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.apheo.ca/index.php?pid=142</u>
- Statistics Canada [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; c2014 Health profile, December 2013, (City of Toronto Health Unit (Health Region), Ontario and Ontario (table)); 2014 Apr [cited 2014 Sept 17]; [about 3 screens]. Available from <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/health-sante/82-228/index.cfm?Lang=E</u>
- 50. Schellong K, Schulz S, Harder T, Plagemann A. Birth weight and long-term overweight risk: systematic review and a meta-analysis including 643,902 persons from 66 studies and 26 countries. PLoS One. 2012;7(10):e47776.
- 51. Mu M, Want SF, Sheng J, Zhao Y, Li HZ, Hu CL, et al. Birth weight and subsequent blood pressure: a meta-analysis. Arch Cardiovasc Dis. 2012 Feb;105(2):99-113.
- 52. Dubois L, Girard M, Tatone-Tokuda F. Determinants of high birth weight by geographic region in Canada. Chronic Dis Can. 2007;28(1-2);63-70.
- 53. Toronto Public Health. The unequal city: income and health inequalities in Toronto 2008. Toronto (ON): Toronto Public Health; 2008. 40 p.

- 54. Collins JW, Simon D, Prachand NG. Preterm birth among African American and white women with a lifelong residency in highincome Chicago neighborhoods: an exploratory study. Ethn Dis. 2007 Winter;17(1);113-117.
- 55. Public Health Agency of Canada. Congenital anomalies in Canada 2013. Ottawa, ON: Public Health Agency of Canada; 2013. 119 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-1-100-22259-2.
- 56. Public Health Agency of Canada. Canadian perinatal health report: 2008 edition. Ottawa(ON): Public Health Agency of Canada. 2008. 335 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-0-662-47237-7.
- Association of Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario [Internet]. Ontario: Association of Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario; c2014. 6B congenital anomalies; 2014 Jan 14 [cited 2014 Jun 25]; [about 3 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.apheo.ca/index.php?pid=143</u>
- 58. Health Canada. Congenital anomalies in Canada: a perinatal health report. Ottawa (ON): Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada. 2002. 87 p. Report No.: ISBN 0-662-32800-0.
- 59. Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD): a framework for action. Ottawa (ON): PHAC; 2012. 30 p. Report No.: ISBN 0-662-67808-7.
- Chalmers B, Dzakpasu S, Heaman M, Kaczorowski J. (Maternity Experiences Study Group of the Canadian Perinatal Surveillance System, Public Health Agency of Canada). The Canadian Maternity Experiences Survey: an overview of findings. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2008 Mar;30(3):217–28.
- 61. Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). What mothers say: the Canadian maternity experiences survey. Ottawa (ON): PHAC; 2009. 225 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-1-100-10828-5.
- The Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada (SOGC) [Internet]. Ottawa: SOGC; c2014. Folic acid: for preconception and pregnancy; 2014 [cited 2014 Sept 20]; [about 3 screens]. Available from http://sogc.org/publications/folic-acid-for-preconception-and-pregnancy/
- 63. Rieder MJ. Periconceptional use of folic acid for reduction of the risk of neural tube defects. Paediatr Child Health. 1997; 2(2):152-4.
- 64. Heseker HB, Mason JB, Selhub J, Rosenberg IH, Jacques PF. Not all cases of neural-tube effect can be prevented by increasing the intake of folic acid. British Journal of Nutrition. 2009;102:173-180.
- Health Canada. Prenatal nutrition guidelines for health professionals: gestational weight gain. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada;
 2010. 19 p. Report No.: ISBN H164-126/2010E-PDF
- 66. Food and nutrition [Internet]. Ottawa: Health Canada; c2014. Health Canada's position on gluten-free claims; 2012 Jun [cited 2014 Sept 20]; [about 5 screens]. Available from http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/securit/allerg/cel-coe/gluten-position-eng.php
- 67. Bituh M, Zizic V, Krbavcic IP, Zadro Z, Baric IC. Gluten-free products are insufficient source of folate and vitamin B12 for coeliac patients. Food Technology and Biotechnology. 2011;49(4);511-516.
- Association of Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario [Internet]. Ontario: Association of Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario; c2014. 6B neonatal and infant mortality rates; 2013 Jan 16 [cited 2013 Oct 25]; [about 3 screens]. Available from http://www.apheo.ca/index.php?pid=146
- 69. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). OECD factbook 2009 economic, environmental and social statistics. Paris (FR): OECD; 2009. 274 p. Report No.: ISBN 9789264061699.
- 70. World Health Organization. Neonatal and perinatal mortality: country, regional, global estimates. Geneva (SC): World Health Organization; 2006. 69 p. Report No.: ISBN 978 92 4 156320 8.
- 71. Spong CY, Iams J, Goldenberg R, Hauck FR, Willinger M. Disparities in perinatal medicine: preterm birth, stillbirth, and infant mortality. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2011;117(4):948-95.
- 72. Mathews TJ, MacDorman MF. Infant mortality statistics from the 2007 period linked birth/infant death data set. National Vital Statistics Report (US). 2011;59(6):1-31.
- 73. Gage TB, Fang F, O'Neil E, Stratton H. Maternal age and infant mortality: a test of the Wilcox-Russell hypothesis. Am J Epidemiol. 2009 Feb 1;169(3):294-303.
- 74. Statistics Canada [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada. Infant mortality rates, by province and territory (both sexes); 2013 [cited 2014 Oct 02]; [about 3 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/health21a-eng.htm</u>
- 75. Conference Board of Canada. How Canada Performs [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Conference Board of Canada; c 2014 [cited 2013 Oct 25]. Infant mortality; [updated 2012 Feb]; [about 3 screens] Available from http://www.conferenceboard.ca/hcp/details/health/infant-mortality-rate.aspx
- Public Health Agency of Canada. Maternal mortality in Canada. Toronto (ON): Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada;
 2013. 2 p. Report No.: ISSN 2291-4021.
- Kassebaum NJ, Bertozzi-Villa A, Coggeshall MS, Shackelford KA, Steiner C, Heuton KR, et al. Global, regional, and national levels and causes of maternal mortality during 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. The Lancet. 2014 May;384(9947):980-1004.
- 78. World Health Organization. Trends in maternal mortality: 1990 to 2013. Geneva (SC): World Health Organization; 2014. 56 p. Report No.: ISBN 978 92 4 150722 6.
- 79. Roman M. Preconception care for women with preexisting type 2 diabetes. Clinical Diabetes. 2011;29(1):10-16.
- 80. Feig DS, Hwee J, Shah BR, Booth GL, Bierman AS, Lipscombe LL. Trends in incidence of diabetes in pregnancy and serious perinatal outcomes a large, population-based study in Ontario, Canada, 1996-2010. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(6):1590-1596.

- Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): CIHI; c1996-2014 [cited 2014 Aug 25]. In due time: why maternal age matters; 2011 Sept 15 [cited 2014 Feb]; [about 4 screens] Available from <u>https://secure.cihi.ca/estore/productFamily.htm?pf=PFC1656&lang=en&media=0</u>
- 82. Lui K, Case A. Advanced reproductive age and fertility. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2011 Nov;269:1165-1175.
- 83. Best Start: Ontario's Maternal, Newborn and Early Child Development Resource Centre. Reflecting on the trend: pregnancy after age 35. Toronto (ON): Best Start, Health Nexus Santé; 2007. 88 p.
- 84. Katwijk VC, Peeters LL. Clinical aspects of pregnancy after the age of 35 years: a review of the literature. Human Reproduction Update. 1998;4(2):185–194.
- Usta IM, Nassar AH. Advanced maternal age. Part i: obstetric complications. American Journal of Perinatology. 2008; 25(8):521–534.
- Jacobsson B, Ladfors L, Milsom I. Advanced maternal age and adverse perinatal outcome. Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2004; 104(4):727–733.
- Clearly-Goldman J, Malone FD, Vidaver J, Ball RH, Nyberg D, Comstock CH, et al. Impact of maternal age on obstetric outcome. Obstetric and Gynecology. 2005;105(5 Pt 1):983-990.
- 88. Joseph KS, Allen AC, Dodds L, Turner LA, Scott H, Liston R. The perinatal effects of delayed childbearing. Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2005;105(6):1410–1418.
- 89. Hollier LM, Leveno KJ, Kelly MA, McIntire DD, Cunningham FG. Maternal age and malformations in singleton births. Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2000;96(5 Pt 1):701–706.
- 90. Lisonkova S, Janssen PA, Sheps SB, Lee SK, Dahlgren L. The effect of maternal age on adverse birth outcomes: does parity matter? Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology Canada. 2010;32(6):541–548.
- 91. Gilbert WM, Nesbitt TS, Danielsen B. Childbearing beyond age 40: pregnancy outcome in 24,032 cases. Obstetrics and Gynecology. 1999;93(1):9-14.
- 92. Fox NS, Rebarber A, Dunham SM, Saltzman DH. Outcomes of multiple gestations with advanced maternal age. Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine. 2009;22(7):593-596.
- Ontario Ministry of Health and Long Term Care [Internet]. Ontario: Ministry of Health and Long Term Care; c2014. Initial report on public health; 2012 Nov 22 [cited 2014 Oct 24]; [about 3 screens]. Available from http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/public/publications/pubhealth/init_report/lbw.html
- 94. IOM (Institute of Medicine) and NRC (National Research Council). Leveraging action to support dissemination of the pregnancy weight gain guidelines: workshop summary. Washington (DC): The National Academies Press; 2013. 96 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-0-309-28966-5.
- 95. BORN Public Health Cube. BORN Information System [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): BORN Ontario; c1999 [updated No Date; cited 2014 Aug 28]. Available from: <u>http://bornontario.ca/en/born-information-system/?q=4</u>
- 96. Healthy weight gain during pregnancy [Internet]. Washington (DC): Institute of Medicine and National Research Council of the National Academies; c2014. Healthy weight gain during pregnancy; 2009 [cited 2014 May 19]; [Homepage]. Available from http://resources.iom.edu/Pregnancy/WhatToGain.html#
- 97. Mamun AA, Mannan M, Doi SAR. Gestational weight gain in relation to offspring obesity over the life course: a systematic review and bias-adjusted analysis. Obes Rev. 2014 Apr;15(4):338-47.
- 98. Nehring I, Lehmann S, von Kries R. Gestational weight gain in accordance to the IOM/NRC criteria and the risk for childhood overweight: a meta-analysis. Pediatr Obes. 2013 Jun;8(3):218-24.
- 99. Weissmann-Brenner A, Simchen MJ, Zilberberg E, Kalter A, Weisz B, Achiron R, et al. Maternal and neonatal outcomes of large for gestational age pregnancies. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2012;91:844–849.
- 100. Yu ZB, Han SP, Zhu Z, Zhu C, Wang XJ, Cao XG, et al. Birth weight and subsequent risk of obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2011 Jul;12(7):525-542.
- 101. Witt WP, Wisk LE, Cheng ER, Hampton JM, Hagen EW. Preconception mental health predicts pregnancy complications and adverse birth outcomes: a national population-based study. Maternal and Child Health Journal. 2012;16(7):1525-1541.
- 102. Bonari L, Bennett H, Einarson A, Koren G. Risks of untreated depression during pregnancy. Canadian Family Physician. 2004;50:37-9.
- 103. Evans J, Heron J, Francomb H, Oke S, Golding J. Cohort study of depressed mood during pregnancy and after childbirth. British Medical Journal. 2001;323(7307):257-260.
- 104. Nonacs R, Cohen LS. Depression during pregnancy: diagnosis and treatment options. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2002; 63(7):24-30.
- 105. Burt VK, Stein K. Epidemiology of depression throughout the female life cycle. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2000;63(Suppl 7):9-15.
- 106. Zuckerman B, Amaro H, Bauchner, H, Cabral H. Depressive symptoms during pregnancy: relationship to poor health behaviours. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1989;160(5 pt 1):1107-1111.
- 107. Wisner KL, Zarin DA, Holmboe ES, Appelbaum PS, Gelenberg AJ, Leonard HL, et al. Risk-benefit decision making for treatment of depression during pregnancy. Am J. Psychiatry. 2000;157(12):1933-1940.
- 108. Rosenbaum JF, Fava M, Hoog SL, Ascroft RC, Krebs WB. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor discontinuation syndrome: a randomized clinical trial. Biological Psychiatry Journal. 1998;44(2):77-87.

- 109. Yager C, Brennan D, Steele LS, Epstein R, Ross LE. Challenges and mental health experiences of lesbian and bisexual women who are trying to conceive. Health and Social Work. 2010 Aug;35(3):191-200.
- 110. Ross LE, Steele LS, Epstein R. Service use and gaps in services for lesbian and bisexual women during donor insemination, pregnancy, and the postpartum period. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2006 Jun;28(6):505-11.
- 111. Addis A, Koren G. Safety of fluoxetine during the first trimester of pregnancy: a meta analytical review of epidemiology studies. Psychological Medicine. 2000;30(1):89-94.
- 112. Einarson A, Selby P, Koren G. Discontinuing antidepressants and benzodiazepines upon becoming pregnant. Canadian Family Physician. 2001;47:489-90.
- 113. Shannon GD, Alberg C, Nacul L, Pashayan N. Preconception healthcare delivery at a population level: construction of public health models of preconception care. Maternal Child Health Journal. 2014 Aug;18(6):1512-31.
- 114. Mitchell EW, Verbiest S. Effective strategies for promoting preconception health: from research to practice. American Journal of Health Promotion. 2013;27(3):S1-S3.
- 115. Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health. Preconception health project 2013: synthesis of findings. Guelph (ON): Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health; 2014. 36 p.
- 116. Mitchell EW, Levis DM, Prue CE. Preconception health: awareness, planning and communication among a sample of US men and women. Maternal Child Health Journal. 2012;16(1):31-39.
- 117. Best Start: Ontario's Maternal, Newborn and Early Child Development Resource Centre. Preconception health: awareness and behaviours in Ontario. Toronto (ON): Best Start, Health Nexus Santé; 2009. 9 p.
- 118. Sanders LB. Reproductive life plans: initiative the dialogue with women. The American Journal of Maternal/Child Nursing. 2009 Nov-Dec;34(6):342-7;quiz 348-9.
- 119. Coffey K, Shorten A. The challenge of preconception counselling: using reproductive life planning in primary care. American Journal of American Association of Nurse Practitioners. 2013 May;26(5):255–262.
- 120. Stern J, Larsson M, Kristiansson P, Tyden, T. Introducing reproduction life plan-based information in contraceptive counselling: an RTC. Human Reproduction. 2013;28(9):2450-2461.
- 121. Noyes SS, Savin MK. My life, my plan: Delaware's reproductive life planning for teens. Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing. 2012;41(s1):S3.
- 122. Best Start: Ontario's Maternal, Newborn and Early Child Development Resource Centre. My life my plan. Toronto (ON): Best Start, Health Nexus Santé; 2014. 12 p.
- 123. Nabalamba A, Millar J. Going to the doctor. Health Reports. 2007;18(1):23-35.
- 124. Berghella V, Buchanan E, Pereira L, Baxter JK. Preconception care. Obstetrical & Gynecological Survey. 2010;65(2):119-131.
- 125. Before, Between & Beyond Pregnancy [Internet]. North Carolina: The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill; c2014. Tool Kit; No Date [cited 2014 Sept 19]; [about 2 screens]. Available from http://beforeandbeyond.org/toolkit/
- 126. Taylor D, James EA. An evidence-based guideline for unintended pregnancy prevention. Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing. 2011;40(6):782-793.
- 127. Duerksen A, Dubey V, Iglar K. Annual adult health checkup: update on the Preventive Care Checklist Form. Canadian Family Physician. 2012;58(1):43-47.
- 128. Greig A, Constantin E, Carsley S, Cummings C, Canadian Paediatric Society, Community Paediatrics Committee. Preventive health care visits for children and adolescents aged 6 to 17 years: the Greig health record Technical Report. Paediatrics and Child Health. 2010;15(3):157-9.
- 129. Dubey V, Mathew R, Iglar K, Moineddin R, Glazier R. Improving preventive service delivery at adult complete health checkups: the Preventive health Evidence-based Recommendation Form (PERFORM) cluster randomized controlled trial. BMC Family Practice. 2006;7:44.
- 130. Every Woman California [Internet]. California: Preconception Health Council of California; c2014. Interconception care project of California; 2011 Oct 12 [cited 2014 Sept 25]; [about 4 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.everywomancalifornia.org/content_display.cfm?categoriesID=120&contentID=359</u>
- 131. March of Dimes Foundation: March of dimes nursing programs. [Internet]. White Plains (NY): March of Dimes Foundation; c2014 [cited 2014 Jul 25]. Preconception health promotion: the foundation for a healthier tomorrow; c2013. [cited 2014 Jul 25]; [about 4 screens]. Available from
- <u>http://www.marchofdimes.com/nursing/index.bm2?cid=00000003&spid=ne_s1_1&tpid=ne_sm01_preconception_home</u>
- 132. Parker CS, Ghaddar S, Zhang Q, Cooke B. Factors affecting the willingness of counselors to integrate pre-conception care into sexually transmitted disease clinics. Women's Health Issues. 2010;20(5):329–334.
- 133. Wade G, Herrman J, McBeth-Snyder L. A preconception care program for women in a college setting. The American Journal of Maternal/Child Nursing. 2012;37(3):164-170.
- 134. Gardiner P, Hempstead MB, Ring L, Bickmore T, Yinusa-Nyahkoon L, Tran H, et al. Reaching women through health information technology: the gabby preconception care system. Am J Health Promot. 2013 Jan-Feb; 27(3):eS11-20.
- 135. Statistics Canada [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Statistics Canada. Individual internet use and e-commerce, 2012; c2012. 2013 Oct 28 [cited 2014 Oct 19]; [about 4 screens]. Available from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/131028/dq131028a-eng.htm
- 136. Best Start [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Health Nexus; c2014. Use of social media in prenatal and early childhood services; 2014 [cited 2014 Sept 05]; [about 4 screens]. Available from http://beststart.org/resources/howto/index.html

- 137. Text4baby [Homepage; Internet]. Alexandria (VA): National Healthy Mothers. Healthy Babies Coalition; c2012. Text4baby; No Date [cited 2014 Aug 19]; [homepage]. Available from <u>https://www.text4baby.org/</u>
- 138. Gordon M, Faulkner D, Hunter-Grant C, Brumberg H. Healthy from birth for life: peer education as a strategy to combat adolescent obesity and promote preconception health. Cases in Public Health Communication & Marketing. 2010;4:154-182.
- 139. Public Health Ontario. Measuring the health of infants, children and youth for public health in Ontario: indicators, gaps and recommendations for moving forward. Toronto (ON): Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion; 2013. 58 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-1-4606-0817-3.
- 140. Association of Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario. [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Association of Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario; c2014. Gaps in public health indicators and data in Ontario; 2012, Sept 11 [cited 2014 Aug 25]; [about 4 screens]. Available from

http://www.apheo.ca/resources/indicators/Core%20Indicators%20%20Gaps%20in%20Public%20Health%20Indicators%20and %20Data%20In%20Ontario.pdf

- 141. Association of Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario [Internet]. Ontario: Association of Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario; c2014. 5B drinking in excess of the low-risk alcohol drinking guidelines; 2013 Oct 22 [cited 2014 Oct 25]; [about 3 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.apheo.ca/index.php?pid=122</u>
- 142. Korenbrot CC, Steinberg A, Bender C, Newbury S. Preconception care: a systematic review. Maternal Child Health Journal. 2002;6(2),75-88.
- 143. Mikkonen J, Raphael D. Social determinants of health: the Canadian facts. Toronto (ON): York University School of Health Policy and Management; 2010. 62 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-0-9683484-1-3.
- 144. Frey K, Files J. Preconception healthcare: what women know and believe. Matern Child Health J. Sep 2006;10(Suppl 1):73–77.
- 145. March of Dimes Birth Defects Foundation. March of Dimes Updates: is early prenatal care too late? Contemporary Ob/Gyn. 2002;12:54-72.
- 146. Tough S, Benzies K, Newburn-Cook C, Tofflemire K, Fraser-Lee N, Faber A, et al. What do women know about the risks of delayed childbearing? Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2006;97(4):330-334.
- 147. Rainbow Health Ontario. [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Sherbourne Health Centre; c2014. About LGBT health research; No date [cited 2014 Jul 04]; [about 2 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.rainbowhealthontario.ca/research/about.cfm</u>
- 148. Association of Ontario Midwives. Tip sheet: providing care to lesbian, bisexual and queer (LBQ) women [pamphlet]. Toronto (ON): Association of Ontario Midwives; 2012.
- 149. Association of Ontario Midwives. Tip sheet for midwives: providing care to trans men and all "trans masculine spectrum" clients [pamphlet]. Toronto (ON): Association of Ontario Midwives; 2012.
- 150. Martin-Misener R, Valaitis R. A scoping literature review of collaboration between primary care and public health. Prim Health Care Res Dev. 2012 Jul;13(3):219-36.
- 151. Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Ontario public health sector strategic plan framework [pamphlet]. Toronto: Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care; 2013.
- 152. Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Make no little plans. Toronto (ON): Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care; 2013. 27 p.
- 153. Tough SC, Clarke M, Hicks M, Cook J. Pre-conception practices among family physicians and obstetrician-gynaecologists: results from a national survey. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2006;28(9):780-788.
- 154. Curtis M. Preconception care: clinical and policy implications of the preconception agenda. JCOM. 2010;17(4):167-172.
- 155. Shojania KG, Jennings MA, Mayhew A, Ramsay C, Eccles M, Grimshaw J. Effect of point-of-care computer reminders on physician behaviour: a systematic review. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2010;182(5):E216-E225.
- 156. BORN Ontario [Internet].Ottawa (ON): BORN Ontario; c2014. Ontario Antenatal Record; No date [cited 2014 Aug 19]; [about 2 screens]. Available from https://www.bornontario.ca/en/special-projects/antenatal-1-and-2/
- 157. Saskatchewan Prevention Institute [Internet]. Saskatoon (SK): Saskatchewan Prevention Institute; c2014. Infant mortality in Saskatchewan: evidence to inform public health practice; 2010 Feb [cited 2014 Sept 20]; [about 3 screens]. Available from http://www.skprevention.ca/shop/infant-mortality-in-saskatchewan-evidence-to-inform-public-health-practice/
- 158. Statistics Canada. Canadian community health survey (2007-2011). Ottawa (ON): Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada; 2014. Unknown.
- 159. Alcohol and public health [Internet]. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; c2014. Excessive alcohol use and risks to men's health; 2014 Jan 16 [cited 2014 Jul 25]; [about 3 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/fact-sheets/mens-health.htm</u>
- 160. College of Family Physicians of Canada. Alcohol screening, brief intervention & referral: a clinical guide [pamphlet]. Ottawa: Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse; 2012
- 161. Tough S, Clarke M, Clarren S. Preventing fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Preconception counselling and diagnosis. Canadian Family Physician. 2005;51(9):1199-1201.
- 162. Finnegan L. Substance abuse in Canada: licit and illicit drug use during pregnancy: maternal, neonatal and early childhood consequences. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse; 2013. 114 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-1-77178-041-4.
- 163. Wong S, Ordean A, Kahan M. SOGC clinical practice guideline: substance use in pregnancy. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2011;33(4):367–384.

- 164. Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). Make every mother and child count: report on maternal and child health in Canada. Ottawa (ON): PHAC; 2005. 12 p. Report No.: ISBN 0-662-40007-0.
- 165. Butt P, Beirness D, Gliksman L, Paradis C, Stockwell T. Alcohol and health in Canada: a summary of evidence and guidelines for low-risk drinking. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse; 2011. 66 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-1-926705-79-8.
- 166. Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD) prevention: Canadian perspectives. Ottawa (ON): PHAC; 2008. 18 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-0-662-05979-0.
- 167. McDonald SD, Han Z, Beyene J. Overweight and obesity in mothers and risk of preterm birth and low birth weight infants: systematic review and meta-analyses. British Medical Journal. 2010;341:c3428.
- 168. Mottola MF. Exercise prescription for overweight and obese women: pregnancy and postpartum. Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America. 2009;36(2):301-16.
- 169. Davies GAL, Wolfe LA, Mottola M F, MacKinnon C. Joint SOGC/CSEP clinical practice guideline: exercise in pregnancy and the postpartum period. Canadian Journal of Applied Physiology. 2003;28(3):330-41.
- 170. Preconception health and health care [Internet]. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; c2014. Information for men; 2013 Dec 03 [cited 2014 Jul 29]; [about 2 screens]. Available from http://www.cdc.gov/preconception/men.html
- 171. Ramlau-Hansen CH, Thulstrup AM, Nohr EA, Bonde JP, Sorensen TI, Olsen J. Subfecundity in overweight and obese couples. Human Reproduction. 2007;22(6):1634-7.
- 172. Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology (CSEP). Canadian physical activity guidelines. Ottawa (ON): CSEP; 2012. 32 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-1-896900-30-8.
- 173. Grigoriadias S, VonderPorten E, Mamisashvili L. The impact of maternal depression during pregnancy on perinatal outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2013;74(4):321-341.
- 174. Health Information [Internet]. Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health; c2014. Postpartum depression; [cited 2014 Jul 02]; [about 5 screens]. Available from http://www.camh.ca/en/hospital/health_information/a_z_mental_health_and_addiction_information/Postpartum-
- <u>depression/Pages/default.aspx</u>
 175. Ross LE, Dennis CL, Robertson Blackmore E, Stewart DE. Postpartum depression: a guide for front-line health and social service providers. Toronto (ON): Centre for Addiction and Mental Health; 2005. 167 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-0-88868-485
- 176. Klerman L, Jack B, Coonrod D, Lu M, Fry-Johnson Y, Johnson K. The clinical content of preconception care: care of psychosocial stressors. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2008;199(6):S290-S295.
- 177. Cardwell S. Stress: pregnancy considerations. Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey. 2013;68(2):119-29.
- 178. Lynch CD, Sundaram R, Maisog JM, Sweeney AM, Buck Louis GM. Preconception stress increases the risk of infertility: results from a couple-based prospective cohort study-the LIFE study. Human Reproduction. 2014;29(5):1067-75.
- 179. Hobel CJ, Goldstein A, Barrett ES. Psychosocial stress and pregnancy outcome. Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2008;51(2):333-48.
- 180. Cha S, Masho SW. Intimate partner violence and utilization of prenatal care in the United States. Journal of Interpersonal Violence. 2014;29(5):911-27.
- 181. Woods SM, Melville JL, Guo Y, Fan MY, Gavin A. Psychosocial stress during pregnancy. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2010;202(1):61.
- 182. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. ACOG committee opinion no. 343: psychosocial risk factors; perinatal screening and intervention. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2006;108:469-77.
- 183. Cherniak D, Grant L, Mason R, Moore B, Pellizzari R. Intimate partner violence consensus statement. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2005;27(4):365–388.
- 184. NIOSH publications and products [Internet]. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; c2014. The effects of workplace hazards on male reproductive health; 1996 [cited 2014 Jul 25]; [about 3 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/96-132/</u>
- 185. United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and World Health Organization (WHO). State of the science of endocrine disrupting chemicals. Geneva (SC): World Health Organization; 2014. 296 p. Report No.: ISBN: 978 92 4 150503 1.
- 186. Resources > cardfile [Internet]. Toronto: Canadian Partnership for Children's Health and the Environment; c2014. Playing it safe: service provider strategies to reduce environmental risks to preconception, prenatal and child health; 2006 [cited 2014 Jul 31]; [about 3 screens]. Available from http://www.healthyenvironmentforkids.ca/resources/playing-it-safe-service-provider-strategies
- 187. Resources > cardfile [Internet]. Toronto: Canadian Partnership for Children's Health and the Environment; c2014. The 2013 Berlaymont declaration on endocrine disrupters; 2013 [cited 2014 Jul 31]; [about 3 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.healthyenvironmentforkids.ca/resources/2013-berlaymont-declaration-endocrine-disrupters</u>
- 188. Cooper K, Marshall L, Vanderlinden L, Ursitti F. Early exposures to hazardous chemicals/pollution and associations with chronic disease: a scoping review. Toronto, ON: Canadian Environmental Law Association; 2011. 162 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-1-926602-87-5.
- 189. Wilson D. Principles of human teratology: drug, chemical, and infectious exposure. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2007;199:911-917.
- 190. Grason HA, Misra DP. Reducing exposure to environmental toxicants before birth: moving from risk perception to risk reduction. Public Health Reports. 2009;124(5):629-41.

- 191. Wilson D. Genetic considerations for a woman's pre-conception evaluation. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2011;33(1):57-64.
- 192. Dunlop A, Jack B, Bottalico J, Lu M, James A, Shellhaas C, et al. The clinical content of preconception care: women with chronic medical conditions. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2008;199 (6):S310–S327.
- 193. Medications and drugs before and during pregnancy [Internet]. Ottawa: Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada; c2014. Medications and drugs before and during pregnancy; 2013 [cited 2014 Jul 31]; [about 3 screens]. Available from http://sogc.org/publications/medications-and-drugs-before-and-during-pregnancy/
- 194. Bobetsis YA, Barros SP, Offenbacher S. Exploring the relationship between periodontal disease and pregnancy complications. The Journal of the American Dental Association. 2006;137:75-135.
- 195. Aagaard K, Ma J, Antony KM, Ganu R, Petrosino J, Versalovic J. The placenta harbors a unique microbiome. Science Translational Medicine. 2014;6(237):237ra65.
- 196. Public Health Agency of Canada. The sensible guide to a healthy pregnancy: oral health. Ottawa (ON): Public Health Agency of Canada; 2012. 56 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-1-100-11672-3.
- 197. Council on Clinical Affairs. Guideline on perinatal oral health care. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. 2011;35(6):131-36.
- 198. Caring for your teeth [Internet]. Ottawa: Canadian Dental Association; c2014. Oral health: good for life; 2014 [cited 2014 Aug 05]; [about 3 screens]. Available from http://www.cda-adc.ca/en/oral_health/cfyt/good_for_life/
- 199. Berkowitz RJ. Causes, treatment and prevention of early childhood caries: a microbiologic perspective. Journal of the Canadian Dental Association. 2003;69(5):304-07.
- 200. Altshuler A. Early childhood caries: new knowledge has implications for breastfeeding families. LEAVEN. 2006;42(2):27-31.
- 201. Adults [Internet]. Port Hope: Ontario Association of Public Health Dentistry; c2014. Periodontal health or healthy gums; 2014 [cited 2014 Aug 05]; [about 2 screens]. Available from http://www.oaphd.on.ca/index.php/learn-more/adults
- 202. Canadian guidelines on sexually transmitted infections [Internet]. Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada; c2014. Section 1 foreword; Jan 2008 [cited 2014 Aug 05]; [about 5 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/std-mts/sti-its/cgstildcits/section-1-eng.php</u>
- 203. Sexuality and you [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists; c2014. Sexuality and you; 2012 [cited 2014 Dec 05]; [about 3 screens]. Available from http://www.sexualityandu.ca/stis-stds/types-of-stis-stds
- 204. Sexually Transmitted Diseases (STDs) [Internet]. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; c2014. STDs & pregnancy -CDC fact sheet; 1996 [cited 2014 Aug 19]; [about 3 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/std/pregnancy/STDfact-</u> <u>Pregnancy.htm</u>
- 205. McCall D, McKay A. School-based and school-linked sexual health education and promotion in Canada [pamphlet]. Ottawa (ON): Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada; 2004.
- 206. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. How tobacco smoke causes disease: the biology and behavioral basis for smoking-attributable disease: a report of the surgeon general. Atlanta: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2010. 706 p. Report No.: ISBN 13 978-0-16-084078-4.
- 207. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. The health consequences of smoking: 50 years of progress. Atlanta: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2014. 944 p. Report No.: ISBN 9780160924149.
- 208. Greaves L, Poole N, Okoli CTC, Hemsing N, Qu A, Bialystok L. Expecting to quit: a best practices review of smoking cessation interventions for pregnant and postpartum girls and women. Vancouver (BC): British Columbia Centre of Excellence for Women's Health and Health Canada; 2011. 105 p. Report No.: ISBN 978-1-894356-68-8
- 209. Zenzes MT. Smoking and reproduction: gene damage to human gametes and embryos. Human Reproduction Update. 2000;6(2):122-131.
- 210. Canadian smoking cessation clinical practice guideline [Internet]. Toronto: Canadian Action Network for the Advancement, Dissemination and Adoption of Practice-informed Tobacco Treatment; c2014. Introduction [cited 2014 Sept 17]; [about 2 screens]. Available from <u>https://www.nicotinedependenceclinic.com/English/CANADAPTT/Guideline/Introduction.aspx</u>
- 211. Vaccines for pregnant women [Internet]. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; c2014 Vaccine information for adults; 2013 Aug 23 [cited 2014 Sept 17]; [about 2 screens]. Available from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/adults/recvac/pregnant.html</u>
- 212. Part 3 vaccination of specific populations [Internet]. Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada; c2014. Canadian immunization guide; 2013 Aug 27 [cited 2014 Sept 17]; [about 3 screens]. Available from http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/publicat/cig-gci/p03-04-eng.php
- 213. Gruslin A, Steben M, Halperin S, Money D, Yudin M. SOGC clinical guideline: immunization in pregnancy. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2008;220:1149-1154.
- 214. Epidemiology and prevention of vaccine-preventable diseases [Internet]. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; c2012 Vaccines and Immunizations; 2014 Jul 25 [cited 2014 Sept 17]; [about 3 screens]. Available from http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/pinkbook/index.html
- 215. Robbins CL, Zapata LB, Farr SL, Kroelinger CD, Morrow B, Ahluwalia I, et al. Core state preconception health indicators: pregnancy risk assessment monitoring system and behavioral risk factor surveillance system. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly. 2009;63(ss03):1-62.
- 216. Best Start: Ontario's Maternal, Newborn and Early Child Development Resource Centre. Preconception health: physicians practices in Ontario. Toronto (ON): Best Start, Health Nexus Santé; 2009. 21 p.

- 217. Niagara Region [Internet]. Ontario: Niagara Region; c2014. Prenatal app for apple devices: M+B 2B; No Date [cited 2014 Aug 24]; [about 5 screens]. Available from http://www.niagararegion.ca/living/health_wellness/pregnancy/baby_app.aspx
- 218. Health Canada. Changing fertility patterns: trends and implications. Health Policy Research Bulletin. 2005 May;10:1-47.
- 219. Oregon Foundation for Reproductive Health [Internet]. Oregon: Oregon Foundation for Reproductive Health; c2014. Programs; No Date [cited 2014 Aug 24]; [about 2 screens]. Available from http://www.orfrh.org/programs/
- 220. Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health. Insight into preconception health: community survey findings. Guelph (ON): Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health; 2014.
- 221. Alcohol and public health [Internet]. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; c2014. Fact sheets: excessive alcohol use and risks to women's health; 2014 Nov 1 [cited 2015 Jan 23]; [about 3 screens]. Available from http://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/fact-sheets/womens-health.htm

Appendix A

Preconception Risk Factors

The purpose of this appendix is to provide a quick summary of some of the evidence reviewed for this paper. It highlights some key documents and is not a comprehensive or exhaustive list of preconception health issues or recommendations. This summary is not meant to replace any practice guidelines or documents currently in place.

Alcohol & Substance Use (see Tobacco Use below)		
Effects	When under the influence of alcohol, individuals are less likely to adopt safe sex practices and there is an increase in unintended pregnancies [26,159,221].	
	Alcohol use in pregnancy is the cause of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD), a permanent developmental disability [5,26,160,161].	
	Alcohol and substance use increases the risk of preterm birth, low birth weight and small for gestational age babies, placental abruption and intrauterine growth restriction [5,162,163].	
	Heavy alcohol consumption and street drugs can cause fertility problems including impotence, alterations in sperm quality for men and disrupted menstrual and ovulation cycles for women [159,162].	
Recommendations	Screen ¹⁷ all individuals of reproductive age, for at-risk alcohol consumption and drug misuse [26,160,161,163].	
	Identify at-risk drinking and drug misuse before pregnancy, to allow time to address substance misuse [5,26].	
	Particular attention should be made to women of advanced maternal age and young women as they may be more at-risk for alcohol use during pregnancy [164].	
	Provide consistent messaging that abstinence from alcohol and substances is the safest choice for those who are or may become pregnant [26,161,165,166].	
	Using a harm reduction approach, counsel all sexually active individuals of reproductive age who use alcohol and/or other substances, to make informed decisions regarding alcohol and substance use and to consistently use an effective form of contraception [159,162].	
	There is no confirmed safe amount of alcohol use during any stage of a pregnancy [26].	

^{17.} There are many different effective screening tools related to alcohol use, some intended for specific ages or populations; however none have been tested for preconception health specifically. The T-ACE screen was the first validated screening questionnaire for risky drinking developed for pregnant women.

Body Weight		
Effects	Starting a pregnancy underweight, overweight or obese can negatively affect maternal and fetal health. As pre-pregnancy Body Mass Index (BMI) increases, the risk of infertility and complications during pregnancy also increases [13,33,65,167,168].	
	Adverse outcomes associated with maternal BMI in the overweight or obese category include gestational diabetes, gestational hypertension, excessive gestational weight gain, miscarriage, stillbirth, Caesarean section, wound infections, preterm delivery, neural tube defects, child obesity, maternal diabetes, hypertensive and thromboembolic disease [27,33,167].	
	Evidence shows that women who are physically fit before pregnancy have fewer aches and pains during pregnancy and feel they have more energy during their pregnancies [5,169].	
	Male obesity negatively impacts fertility, sperm quantity and quality [170,171].	
Recommendations	Educate women of reproductive age about the impact of their health and weight on their own well-being and on the health and well-being of their children [32].	
	Advise overweight and obese women of the increased risk of congenital abnormalities and screen appropriately [27,55].	
	Educate and support individuals to reach a healthy body weight prior to a pregnancy occurring [27,65].	
	Inform all individuals to aim for at least 30 minutes of moderate exercise (that makes you sweat), five days a week, to enjoy long-term good health [5,172].	
	Inform men of potential impact of weight on fertility and their own well-being. Encourage men to set goals and develop a plan to reach a healthy weight [6].	
	Emotional Health & Stress	
Effects	Poor preconception mental health is a significant risk factor for pregnancy complications and low birth weight babies [101].	
	Maternal depression during pregnancy is associated with increased odds for premature delivery and decreased breastfeeding initiation [173].	
	Women who have experienced perinatal mood disorder (PMD) during pregnancy or in the postpartum period have a greater risk of experiencing PMD in subsequent pregnancies [174,175].	
	Psychosocial factors such as socioeconomic status, work status, marital status, level of education, access to prenatal care, substance abuse, ethnicity, cultural background, and quality of relationships with partners and parents have been identified as determinants of stress during pregnancy [61,176,177].	
	High levels of stress may delay conception, impact the ability to conceive and has been linked to adverse pregnancy outcomes [5,176,178,179].	
	Women with psychosocial stress are also at risk for participation in high risk behaviours. Women with high risk behaviours before pregnancy are more likely to continue them during pregnancy and less likely to access prenatal care [102].	

Emotional Health & Stress (cont.)		
Effects	Evidence supports the association between prenatal stress and infection and inflammation during pregnancy which can lead to low birth weight, preterm birth, and additional adverse outcomes or pregnancy complications [61,177,178].	
	Intimate partner violence as a child or adolescent increases the risk of violence during pregnancy [176]. Women who experience preconception or prenatal violence are 30% less likely to have adequate prenatal care. Abuse can escalate in pregnancy [13,180].	
Recommendations	Promote interventions that improve the emotional health of women and reduce stress before conception to reduce the risk including perinatal mood disorders. Intervention may include group counseling, development of coping and economic skills [5,179,181,182].	
	HCPs should include queries about violence in the behavioural health assessment of new patients, at annual preventive visits, as a part of prenatal care and in response to symptoms or conditions associated with abuse [13,183].	
	Environmental Toxins	
Effects	There are substances in the everyday environment which are known to be harmful and interfere with the endocrine system, affecting fertility and reproductive outcomes for men and women [184,185,186].	
	Interference with hormone action during critical periods of fetal development can cause irreversible and delayed effects that do not become evident until later in life [187,188].	
	Environmental toxins (e.g., air pollutants, heavy metals, organic solvents, pesticides) may increase the risk of low birth weight, intrauterine growth restriction, preterm birth, and birth defects [189,190].	
Recommendations	Encourage all individuals of reproductive age to investigate and review the harmful substances in their home and workplace environments so that they can adopt prevention strategies before conceiving [186].	
	Medical Conditions & Genetic Risks	
Effects	Some medical conditions (e.g., diabetes, hypertension, thyroid disease), undiagnosed, untreated, or poorly controlled, can be associated with adverse fetal outcomes [5,191,192].	
	Men and women with pre-existing medical conditions are commonly prescribed medications. Some medications can pose risk to fertility (e.g., affect sperm count and quality), can affect sperm count and quality, and are contraindicated during pregnancy (e.g., increase risk for congenital anomalies). Sometimes, the risk of not taking medication during pregnancy may be more serious than the potential risk associated with taking the medication [6,193].	
Recommendations	Investigate family history of genetic disorders such as muscular dystrophy, hemophilia, cystic fibrosis, fragile X syndrome, congenital heart disease, phenylketonuria, dwarfism, sickle cell anemia, and Tay-Sachs disease to increase understanding of possible genetic risk and lead to enhanced pregnancy outcomes [191].	
	Individuals should have a full medical examination to ensure chronic conditions are under control before conceiving. This should include exploring use of medications known to be safe for a fetus [5,191].	
	Encourage individuals to speak with a genetic counsellor if they have a family history of genetic disorders [191].	

Oral Health		
	Oral Health	
Effects	Dental caries and other oral diseases are common in women of reproductive age (>80% of women aged 20-39 years) [191,194].	
	Pregnant women with periodontal disease, which is a preventable and treatable condition, may have higher risk of delivering a preterm or low birth weight baby [195,196,197].	
	A mother with recent tooth decay can transmit the caries causing bacteria to the child [197,198,199,200].	
	Although not directly linked to fertility or birth outcomes, oral health in males contributes positively to physical, mental and social well-being and should be encouraged [198].	
Recommendations	Encourage individuals of reproductive age to visit their dental care professional for regular care to prevent chronic conditions and maintain oral health before pregnancy [197,201].	
Sexually Transmitted Infections (STI)		
Effects	Some types of STIs, including HIV, can cause infertility in men and women, adverse pregnancy outcomes including preterm and low birth weight babies, transmission of the infection to fetus/infant, stillbirth or physical and developmental disabilities [202,203,204,205].	
Recommendations	Incorporate STI prevention as part of routine patient care. Screen for and treat STIs early to prevent adverse outcomes to fertility, pregnancy and fetal health [13,202,204].	
	Particular attention should be given to teens as they have the highest rates of STIs among young people [203,204,205].	
	Tobacco Use	
Effects	Women who smoke are more likely to experience reduced fertility as tobacco use can influence conception delay, ovarian function, tubal function, and uterine receptiveness [5,206,207,208].	
	Smoking in males is associated with erectile dysfunction, low sperm counts, poor motility, altered sperm quality which can lead to failed embryo implantation and adverse birth outcomes including low birth weight [206,207,208,209].	
	Nicotine exposure during pregnancy contributes to adverse birth outcomes, such as ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, preterm birth and stillbirth [163,196,206,208].	
	Smoking in early pregnancy is linked to orofacial clefts in infants, and evidence suggests that smoking could be associated with certain other birth defects [207].	
	Exposure to second-hand tobacco smoke has been causally linked to cancer, respiratory, cardiovascular diseases, and to adverse effects on the health of infants and children [163,207].	

Tobacco Use (cont.)		
Recommendations	Provide routine screening of tobacco use for all individuals. Minimal interventions, of 1-3 minutes, are effective and should be offered to every tobacco user ¹⁸ .	
	Quit attempts before conception provide an opportunity for women to use nicotine replacement therapies without concern for a developing fetus [13,163,208].	
	Educate all non-smokers about harms associated with second-hand smoke and harmful effects on pregnant women and unborn children [13,163].	
Vaccine Preventable Diseases		
Effects	Infection by certain vaccine preventable diseases in women can cause serious birth defects or fetal death [211].	
	For rubella and varicella, the syndromes affecting the fetus and infants are most common when a non-immune woman is exposed to the virus during pregnancy, with the greatest risk to the fetus being in the first trimester [212].	
	Attaining immunity prior to pregnancy accounts for fewer complications related to the illnesses and provides passive immunity for the baby [212,213].	
	Communicable disease infection of males prior to conception can affect fertility e.g., a common complication of mumps is orchitis, inflammation of the testicles [214].	
Recommendations	Provide routine immunity assessment and vaccination, if necessary, to individuals of reproductive age [213].	
	Women should be advised to avoid pregnancy for at least 28 days after live vaccinations since these vaccines cross the placenta and there is a theoretical risk to the fetus [212,213].	
	Ensure partners and household contacts to a pregnant woman have up to date immunizations [214].	

General health status and life satisfaction

1. Reported good, very good or excellent health

Social determinants of health

2. Reported having a high school education/GED or greater

Health care

3. Reported currently having some type of healthcare coverage

- 4. Reported having had healthcare coverage during the month before pregnancy
- 5. Reported having had a routine checkup in the past year
- 6. Reported having had a postpartum checkup
- 7. Reported having had their teeth cleaned during the 12 months before pregnancy
- 8. Reported having had a Papanicolaou test within the past 3 years
- 9. Reported having received preconception counseling about healthy lifestyle behaviors and prevention strategies from a healthcare provider before pregnancy on at least five of 11 healthy lifestyle behaviors and prevention strategies before pregnancy

Reproductive health and family planning

10. Reported that their previous live birth was more than 3 weeks before the due date (among multiparous women)

11. Reported having had experienced a miscarriage, fetal death or stillbirth death or stillbirth in the 12 months before getting pregnant with their most recent live born infant

12. Reported most recent pregnancy resulting in a live birth was unintended (unwanted or wanted later)

13. Reported that they were not trying to get pregnant at the time of conception and neither they nor their husbands or partners were doing anything to keep from getting pregnant

14. Reported that they or their husbands or partners were currently doing something to keep from getting pregnant

15. Reported that they used fertility drugs or received any medical procedures from a doctor, nurse, or other health-care worker to help them get pregnant (among women who were trying to get pregnant at the time of conception)

Tobacco and alcohol use

- 16. Reported that they currently smoke everyday or some days
- 17. Reported that they smoked cigarettes during the 3 months before pregnancy
- 18. Reported that smoking is currently allowed in their home (current second hand smoke exposure)
- 19. Reported that they participated in binge drinking on at least one occasion in the past month
- 20. Reported that they drank any amount of alcohol during the 3 months before pregnancy
- 21. Reported that they participated in binge drinking during the 3 months before pregnancy

Nutrition and physical activity

- 22. Reported that they consume fruits and vegetables at least five times per day
- 23. Overweight: Body Mass Index (BMI) 25.0–29.9
- 24. Overweight: percentage of women with a pre-pregnancy BMI 25.0–29.9
- 25. Obesity: percentage of women with a BMI \geq 30
- 26. Obesity: percentage of women with a pre-pregnancy BMI \geq 30

27. Reported that they took a multivitamin, prenatal vitamin or a folic acid supplement everyday of the month before pregnancy

28. Reported that they participate in enough moderate and/or vigorous physical activity in a usual week to meet the recommended levels of physical activity

Mental health

29. Reported that their mental health was not good for at least 14 out of the past 30 days

30. Reported that they visited a healthcare provider to be checked or treated for anxiety or depression during the 12 months before pregnancy

31. Reported that they experienced depression symptoms after pregnancy

Emotional and social support

- 32. Reported that they were physically abused by their partner during the 12 months before pregnancy
- 33. Reported that they always or usually get adequate social and emotional support they need
- 34. Reported that they had \geq 3 of 5 types of social support available to them after delivering their baby

Chronic conditions

35. Reported that they had ever been told by a healthcare provider that they had diabetes (not including gestational diabetes)

36. Reported that before their most recent pregnancy they had ever been told by a healthcare provider that they had Type I or Type II diabetes

37. Reported that they had ever been told by a health-care provider that they had hypertension (not including hypertension during pregnancy)

38. Reported that they had hypertension during the 3 months before their most recent pregnancy

39. Reported that they currently have asthma

Infections

40. Reported that they received an influenza vaccination within the past year